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Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders

Your directors are pleased to provide you with the annual 
report for the year ended 31 July 2018.

This year marks the first Annual report since Lion 
acquired its 33.3% interest in the pani gold project from 
one Asia in April 2018. This flagship acquisition followed 
the resolution of the pani ownership dispute in december 
2017, negotiated by provident capital, Lion’s 66.6% partner 
in the pani Joint Venture.  Your directors believe Lion’s 
prospects are excellent, positioned to benefit from pani, 
one of the most exciting projects in its 20-year history.  
Lion’s cornerstone interest in pani looks to possess 
attributes that could deliver a world class gold asset.   
The understanding of pani will unfold as the project is put 
through the rigours of various studies, but initial work 
suggests potential for a multi-million ounce project with 
a modest capital outlay, combined with a low operating 
cost. Further, the project benefits from its quality partners 
in indonesia who have demonstrated capabilities of 
developing and operating mining projects in indonesia.

With respect to Lion’s broader portfolio, most investees 
have advanced significantly along their development curve, 
with three companies now in steady state commercial 
operations, and several investees delivering and now 
seeking funding on the back of positive feasibility studies.  
in most cases debt funding appears readily available, but it 
is the equity capital that is holding these companies back.

Market uncertainty has dented the upswing in the 
resources cycle that has been underway since January 
2016, with markets generally flat. Limited risk capital 
has enabled ipo’s and secondary equity capital raisings, 
although these generally have been challenging and at 
discounted valuations.

importantly cautious global equity markets have not 
always reflected performance, discounting companies 
that require funding irrespective of project economics, and 
being slow to re-rate companies that achieve commercial 
production. This appears to reflect destabilising influences 
undermining market confidence, including bearish gold 
market trends, large scale portfolio liquidation by passive 
funds and volatile international relations. it is difficult 
to predict when markets might return to some level of 
normalcy, but in the interim the key is to survive, find 
funding solutions and focus on cashflow. Further, gold is 
often a beneficiary of volatility, so may yet rebound.

Well done to the Lion team on the adept acquisition of 
the pani Joint Venture interest, and who once again have 
actively assisted many investees throughout the year.

Barry	Sullivan
chairman

Your directors are pleased to provide you with the annual report 
for the year ended 31 July 2018. This year marks the first Annual 
Report since Lion acquired its 33.3% interest in the Pani gold project 
from One Asia in April 2018. This flagship acquisition followed the 
resolution of the Pani ownership dispute in December 2017, negotiated 
by Provident Capital, Lion’s 66.6% partner in the Pani Joint Venture.
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Lion Selection Group Investment Summary

AS	At	30	SeptemBer	2018

Commodity mArket	VAlue
A$m

pani	Joint	Venture	(33.3%	interest) Gold 16.9

Fair value for pani reflecting the consideration paid by Lion to 
acquire 33.3% interest from one Asia resources in May 2018 and 
further funding advanced to pani JV.

portfolio	

Nusantara resources Gold 7.1

roxgold Gold 5.3

egan Street resources Gold 4.4

erdene resources Gold 2.6

Toro Gold Gold 1.6

other 3.7

• portfolio holdings measured at fair value

• includes investments held directly by Lion and the value to 
Lion of investments held by African Lion

Net	Cash 1.3

Net	tangible	Assets A$42.9m

NtA	per	Share 29c

Capital	Structure

Shares	on	issue: 150,134,879

Share	price: 30¢ps 30 September 2018

options	on	issue: 15,720,958 $0.50 expiry 12 April 2020
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The last mining bust ended in early 2016, and money 
began to flow back into the mining space. in May 2018, the 
Lion clock was moved to 6 o’clock as a reflection. it was 
a rapid and surprising turnaround as measured by the 
performance of mining equity indices, and for that reason 
is historically anomalous – previous cycles have been 
characterised by a more gradual price recovery. The quick 
recovery enabled a recapitalisation of the sector, the ipo 
market opened up and exploration activity lifted.

More than two years after the recovery commenced, and 
there has been a recovery of the fortunes of many miners, 
especially larger companies. The mid-tier is exhibiting 
appetite for growth, these companies have been the main 
proponents of exploration – not only deploying drill rigs 
but adding to their mine lives. They have also made some 
tentative and selective investments outside of their own 
projects, in some cases taking on equity investments in or 
joint ventures with junior explorers.  

Whilst the headlines for the sector read well – indices plot 
a healthy recovery; the industry is exploring again and 
investors are seeking and rewarding growth – this activity 
is strongly skewed toward large capitalisation companies.  
indices include a very small proportion of all the companies 
operating in the mineral resources space and miss a large 
number of junior companies. The sub-index juniors only 
captured a small amount of the flurry of money which  
has been injected into the mining sector by investors 
through 2016-2018. in many cases, this amounted to little 
more than some air in the tyres, rather than a total  
renewal of life.  

Commodity prices 
commodity prices provide a strong guide for equity 
investors in miners, as these are the key short-term 
profitability swing factor and are entirely out of the control 
of company management. Long term fundamentals 
for many metals remain attractive. even so, this has 
been overprinted during 2018 by sentiment surrounding 
economic policy in the united States, particularly tariffs on 
non-uS produced goods being sold into the uS, a concept 
more colloquially known as a uS-china trade war. Most 
mineral commodities have weakened during this time 
against a strengthening uS dollar. 

A number of fundamentals are likely to affect commodities 
over the medium to long term:

• Lack of supply to meet long term demand after  
4-5 years of under investment in new projects and 
closure of excess (mainly high cost) production.

• inflationary pressures and the resultant tightening of 
global monetary policy, against a backdrop of huge 
private and public debt.

• china’s one-belt-one-road initiative, which is a  
long-term ambition to streamline china’s access to 
foreign economies both for buying and selling of goods.
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Mining equities outperforming

Lion Manager’s Report
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Long term fundamentals  
for many metals  

remain attractive 

Mining equities 
Mining stocks still performing
Mining equity performance in 2018 has been positive, but so far lags behind performance during 2016 and 2017, due 
largely to the lead provided by commodities. The ASX100 resources index, which tracks the largest capitalisation resource 
stocks, improved by 38% in 2016 and then 20% in 2017, but year to date in 2018 is only up by 9%. resources have continued 
a trend of outperformance over the rest of the market, demonstrated in a comparison with the ASX100 industrials index. 
The industrials index has provided returns of 3% in 2016, 4% in 2017 and 1% in 2018 year to date.

Source: ireSS
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Recovery in sentiment toward miners 
in the almost three years since the 
market turned in early 2016 has seen 
favouritism from investors toward 
three key themes:

• Large capitalisation miners – having re-discovered 
financial discipline, and adopted responsible outlooks 
toward capital allocation (even if that means extremely 
frugal allocation of capital, weighted heavily toward 
existing operations).

• Gold miners – collectively the best performing sector of 
2016 globally, largely because the gold mining sector 
had been the first to suffer commodity price weakness 
in 2011, and therefore had the longest to address 
costs in response. Gold miners have been a feature 
especially in Australia, where the return to Australian 
(ASX listed) ownership of many local assets coupled 
with operational turnarounds have produced stunning 
cash flows which has made a cluster of Australian gold 
miners global market darlings.

• Battery commodities – new technologies around 
energy storage have driven investment market interest 
in sources of potential supply of the commodities 
that will likely feed into their eventual production. it 
seems reasonably clear that batteries are a growth 
area, however economics for production of the 
commodities are subject to uncertainty. Most of the 
commodities required are geologically abundant, so 
availability of supply is assured but timing of delivery 
of new production could affect commodity prices as 
lumpy changes occur to supply in small markets, 
notwithstanding steadily growing demand.

investor interest has been reasonably well focussed on 
lower risk, high market capitalisation stocks. Whilst there 
is clearly risks involved in the battery commodities space 
and a high degree of speculative behaviour, the thematic 
is around the emergence and growth of a new industry and 
is partly tied to the market’s interest in technology plays 
which have been favoured for many years. Appetite for 
risk-taking in traditional commodities and toward projects 
in riskier jurisdictions is still very low.

liquidity – flowing, but overlooking juniors
The recovery of mining equities as evidenced by resources 
indices masks the performance of junior and micro-cap 
stocks. The small end of the mining market is extremely 
well populated, in fact there are more than 600 companies 
currently listed on ASX which are classified as having a 
metals and mining focus and too small to enable inclusion 
in the ASX100 resources or Small resources indices, 
this group accounts for more than 25% of the number of 
companies listed on ASX. Notwithstanding some notable 
individual successes, performance of this population as a 
whole has not been nearly as sparkling as for their larger 
capitalisation contemporaries, and there is no index for very 
small capitalisation resources stocks which shows this.

The median performance of metals and mining stocks 
on ASX from 1 January 2016 to 30 September 2018 (ie the 
approximate duration of the present boom) is shown in the 
table and chart below. Since the return of the boom, the 
metals and mining companies in the ASX100 have returned a 
median performance of 110% (ie, more than doubled). The 
33 metals and mining companies in the deceptively named 
Small resources index (the smallest is capitalised above 
A$300m) exhibited the best collective performance with a 
median of 156%. in comparison, the median performance of 
the 534 companies that fall below these indices was 4%.  

it is expectable that the best performing stocks will end up 
with a large capitalisation and likely in an index. Similarly, 
poor performers will shrink into the lower capitalisation 
group. even so, performance of the companies within the 
indices is almost uniformly positive: not a single one of the 
metals and mining companies in the ASX100 lost ground 
in the period, in fact the worst performer increased share 
price by 50% in the period. performance of metals and 
mining companies in the Small resources index were 
considerably more varied; ranging from a best performer 
with a multiple of 42x, to the sole negative performer 
which fell by 40% – again, an overwhelmingly positive 
collective performance.

Within the population of sub-index juniors, only half the 
companies put on a positive performance, which is a 
stark difference to the index populations. This is despite 
a flurry of activity in the space, project progress and 
recent emergence of corporate interest. The sentiment is 
echoed by a litany of small company directors – it remains 
extremely challenging, even with demonstrable company 
achievements, to obtain market support and share price 
appreciation. in fact, it has become common for junior 
miners share price to react negatively to good news, 
perhaps the perverse effect of news drawing attention to an 
approaching inevitable capital raising.

Lion Manager’s Report
   

   
   

   
   

   
   



 LioN SeLecTioN Group LiMiTed  2018 annual report	 |	 7

Lion Manager’s Report

Median share price performance of metals and mining stocks
1 January 2016 to 30 September 2018
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Lion Manager’s Report

Ipos and exploration
The number of mining and exploration focussed ipo’s onto 
ASX per year has increased steadily over the past three 
years. After bottoming out with only three new listings in 
2015, there were 10 in 2016, 26 in 2017 and 25 in the year 
2018 to date. Most of the ipo’s of miners and explorers 
in this time have featured fund raisings in the vicinity of 
millions, to low tens of millions of dollars. 2018 has seen 
two much larger listings, with Jupiter Mines (South Africa) 
raising A$240m to list in April, and Nickel Mines (indonesia) 
raising A$200m to list in August 2018. in the same period 
of time, an observation of ipo activity suggests that 
alongside successful listings there has been an increase 
in companies that fail to list. The ipo trend suggests that 
liquidity available for smaller companies is both limited  
and selective.  

Australian Bureau of Statistics data show a trend of 
increasing exploration expenditure and activity in Australia 
since 2016, which has been maintained through 2018 so far.  
This trend is mirrored in global exploration data although 
activity in Australia appears to have grown at a greater rate.  
Much of the activity appears to have been driven by mid-
tier miners, especially in gold, and explorers for battery 
commodities.   

Mergers and acquisitions interest
performance and access to growth capital has led to a 
virtual bifurcation of the population of miners and explorers 
– well funded miners and select group of advanced 
explorer/developers, against a large population of juniors, 
mostly exploration focussed, who struggle to access 
meaningful funding under present market conditions.  
The gold space has been a stand-out in Australia, not only 

for the implementation of effective cost discipline, but 
impressive returns on capital that has been deployed and 
exploration success extending the lives of many assets 
which had previously been judged to be close to the end 
of their productive lives. Accumulation of cash on the 
balance sheets of many of the gold miners in Australia has 
produced a class of cashed up acquirers, and under-funded 
juniors present a range of potential targets. Through 2017 
and 2018 there have been a range of mostly small sized 
equity investments, joint ventures and acquisition deals 
which support the concept of emerging growth appetite, 
albeit at an early stage.

Historically, North American listed gold miners have 
usually commanded a market premium over their 
ASX listed contemporaries, a factor which encouraged 
acquisitions of Australian companies by North Americans.  
recent performance by Australian gold miners has 
resulted in the premium being bestowed on the ASX gold 
miners, for the first time since 1987 (when there was 
no tax on gold in Australia). if this is sustained, it places 
Australian gold miners strongly to be the aggressors of 
future growth and consolidation.

Market weighting – not yet a global 
phenomenon
The market weighting of miners based on the ASX300 
index is 15%, having recovered from a low of 8% in 2015. 
This compares with the long term average of 16%, and 
peak weighting in 2008 and 2011 of over 25%, a trend 
which is in line with expectations of the early stages of the 
cycle. it does appear however to be a global phenomenon, 
with market weightings of miners in North American and 
european markets remaining much closer to 2015 levels.
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Lion Manager’s Report
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Whilst liquidity has been flowing back into the sector, 
it has clearly favoured larger (particularly mid-tier) 
companies who in turn have been key contributors to 
exploration activity.  Many junior companies are yet to 
benefit from the improvement in sentiment, and sentiment 
in North American / european markets are lagging the 

Australian market. With these in mind, it is likely that 
conditions remain at or around 8 o’clock for some time.  
The most obvious potential catalyst to move the cycle 
onwards to 9 o’clock and beyond is M&A activity, which 
we have already seen early indications of especially in 
Australia, with predominantly small sized deals announced.

The Lion clock depicts the mining cycle according to liquidity indicators 
that are diagnostic of the different stages of the cycle. The clock moved to 
6 o’clock in early 2016, after the sense of sentiment toward miners flipped 
and became positive. It became 7 o’clock later in 2016 when it became clear 
that the IPO market was opening, and investor interest had commensurately 
increased. A recapitalisation of the sector between capital raisings and 
improving operating cash flows precipitated an increase in funds available 
for exploration and growth, which moved the clock to 8 o’clock in 2017.    

Lion Clock – 8 o’clock
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Lion Performance

Lion places the greatest emphasis on long term returns, as this timeframe 
best matches the investment timeframe approach used by Lion.      

past performance is no guarantee of future performance, but we believe the long-term 
performance illustrated above endorses the Lion investment model which importantly has 
remained unchanged.  Lion takes a portfolio approach to invest in companies with quality 
people and projects, with the advantage of being able to take a long-term investment view, 
elements which are essential to generating excess returns from the small resources sector.

1. investment performance figures reflect the historic performance of Lion Selection Group Limited (ASX:LSG, 1997 – 2007), Lion Selection Limited 
(ASX:LST, 2007-2009), Lion Selection Group Limited (NSX:LGp, 2009-2013) and Lion Selection Group Limited (ASX:LSX, 2013-present)

2. Methodology for calculating total shareholder return is based on MorningStar (2006), which assumes reinvestment of distributions
3. distributions made include cash dividends, shares distributed in specie as a dividend, proceeds from an off-market buyback conducted in dec 2008, and 

the distribution of shares in catalpa resources via the demerger of Lion Selection Limited in dec 2009. Lion assume all distributions are reinvested, with 
all non-cash distributions sold and the proceeds reinvested on the distribution pay date. 

4. investment performance is pre-tax and ignores the potential value of franking credits on dividends that were partially or fully franked.
5. past performance is not a guide to future performance.
6. indices used for comparison are accumulation indices, which assume reinvestment of dividends.
7. Source: ireSS, Lion Manager

Total shareholder return for Lion Selection Group versus  
ASX Small Resources Accumulation Index

at	31	July	2018 lion ASX	Small	resources

1 Year -22.5% 41.1%

3 Years 13.9% 25.9%

5 Years -12.2% 4.7%

10 Years 5.5% -5.6%

15 Years 6.8% 5.8%

Return since inception – 21 years 7.2% 4.3%
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Lion has been involved with the pani 
project since 2012 when Lion made 
its first investment into one Asia. one 
Asia published a Mineral resource 
estimate (Mre) of 90Mt at 0.82g/t for 
2.4 million ounces of gold based on a 
0.2g/t cut-off (3 december 2014).

Technical work on the project 
is accelerating again following 
settlement of a long running dispute 
with respect to ownership of the pani 
project dating back to december 
2013. Lion would like to acknowledge 
the outstanding contribution of its 
66.6% partner in the pani Joint 
Venture, provident capital, in 
resolving the ownership dispute. in 
the opinion of the Lion team, pani is 
shaping up as the best gold discovery 
that Lion has been involved with since 
its inception in 1997, however at this 
early stage three key factors are 

apparent at pani which point towards 
a large and low cost new gold mine:

• exceptionally thick and continuous 
gold mineralisation;

• Minimal overburden;

• early test work indicating very high 
heap leach recovery.

Direct Equity 
Ownership
in August 2018 regulatory approval 
was received by the pani Joint 
Venture to allow for foreign investors 
to hold equity directly. Accordingly, 
Lion’s 33.3% economic interest in 
the pani Joint Venture is now being 
converted into a direct ownership 
interest. The regulatory approval also 
allows Lion to appoint representation 
to the board of the pani Joint Venture, 

consistent with its memorandum of 
understanding with provident.

The pani Joint Venture is progressing 
permitting for the pani gold project 
including the pani iup license 
containing the pani gold resource,  
a processing and refining area, and 
an access corridor.

The pani iup licence was issued 
by the Government of indonesia in 
November 2009 for a period of  
13 years, and, subject to government 
approval, is extendable for two  
10-year periods. The pani iup is 
subject to the Mining Law 4 of 2009, 
including applicable royalty rates and 
levels of local ownership and input. 
The pani Joint Venture meets the 
required level of local ownership, and 
accordingly no divestment will be 
required.

Pani Gold Project 

In April 2018 Lion acquired One Asia’s 33.3% joint venture interest in 
the Pani Gold Project in Sulawesi, Indonesia. 

Through a series of steps detailed in note 3 of the financial report,  
Lion acquired One Asia’s interest in the Pani Joint Venture, resulting  
in One Asia shareholders receiving an in specie return of Lion shares  
and options.

Summary	of	the	pani	mineral	resources	at	a	cut-off	grade	of	0.2g/t	is	tabulated	below:

Classification tonnes	(mt) Au	Grade	(g/t) Au	(million	oz)

Measured 10.8 1.13 0.39

indicated 62.5 0.81 1.63

inferred 16.2 0.67 0.35

total 89.5 0.82 2.37
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Technical Work
The pani Joint Venture is currently 
undertaking key work streams 
towards a feasibility study for the 
pani Gold project. The pani Joint 
Venture has been able to access 
technical personnel from Merdeka 
copper and Gold where provident is 
a shareholder. Merdeka is a listed 
indonesian company that has relevant 
recent experience in successfully 
developing the Tujuh Bukit Gold heap 
leach project. 

recent independent technical reviews 
have highlighted the presence of 
significant free gold associated with 
the mineralisation at pani. it was 
therefore considered prudent to 
revisit certain elements of previous 
work programs underlying the 2014 
Mineral resource estimate including 
the sampling and assay procedures, 
definition of geological domains, 
and metallurgical test-work. This 
technical reassurance included re-
logging of all diamond drill core and 
some re-assays of stored material 
from historical drilling.

Following these reviews, the next 
phase of work at pani is now firming 
up, with more detailed works that 
contribute toward an economic 
assessment of the project. This is 
expected to include a comprehensive 
program of re-assaying stored 
material, drilling, metallurgical 
testwork and technical studies. An 
updated resource is expected as part 
of this process.
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Nusantara listed on the ASX in 
August 2017 following a $16m ipo 
to fund completion of a definitive 
Feasibility Study on the Awak Mas 
Gold project in Sulawesi, indonesia.

Progress since  
listing has been:
August	2017 – low cost grid power 
secured from indonesian national 
power company pLN, delivering 
significant cost savings.

march	2018 – tenure secured with 
indonesian government until 2050 
with no divestment until 10 years post 
production and largely permitted to 
production.

may	2018 – resource increased to 
2.08Moz. (refer Table 1) 

September	2018 – reserve increased 
to 1.1Moz. (refer Table 2)

october	2018 – dFS completed:
• 11 years x 100,000 oz gold pa
• capex uS$146m, NpV5 uS$152m
• All-in-Sustaining-costs  

uS$758/oz.
• 91% recovery, 3.5/1 strip ratio.
• 2.5Mtpa x 1.3g/t ciL.

exploration of the large 14,390ha 
contract of Work has been a 
secondary focus over the year with 
the following areas recognised to 
potentially increase resources and 
reserves:
• continuity of mineralisation 

between Awak Mas and Salu bulo.
• Grade increase within Awak 

Mas resource from close spaced 
drilling.

• Near mine extensions – puncak 
Selatan, puncak utara etc

• Multiple prospects near to 
processing plant.

• Brownfields expansion of Tarra 
project/area.

• Greenfields potential recognised 
from recent reworking of historic 
geophysical information.

Nusantara Resources

Awak Mas – Indonesia’s largest 
undeveloped, fully permitted 
gold project.

   
   

   
   

   
   

   



 LioN SeLecTioN Group LiMiTed  2018 annual report	 |	 15

table	2:	Awak	mas	Gold	project	ore	reserve	estimates	(August	2018)	by	deposit

Classification tonnes	(mt) Au	Grade	(g/t) Contained	Gold	(moz)

Awak	mas
proved - - -

probable 24.1 1.28 0.99

Sub-total 24.1 1.28 0.99

Salu	Bulo
proved - - -

probable 2.8 1.67 0.15

Sub-total 2.8 1.67 0.15

total
proved - - -

probable 26.9 1.32 1.14

total 26.9 1.32 1.14

table	1:	 Awak	mas	mineral	resource	estimates	(may	2018)	by	deposit	at	0.5g/t	Au	cut-off	and	constrained	within	a
	 uS$1,400/oz	optimisation	shell

Classification tonnes	(mt) Au	Grade	(g/t) Contained	Gold	(moz)

Awak	mas

Measured - - -

indicated 36.4 1.4 1.62

inferred 3.1 1.0 0.10

Sub-total 39.5 1.4 1.72

Salu	Bulo

Measured - - -

indicated 2.9 1.7 0.16

inferred 0.6 1.1 0.02

Sub-total 3.6 1.6 0.18

tarra

Measured - - -

indicated 2.9 1.7 0.16

inferred 0.6 1.1 0.02

Sub-total 3.6 1.6 0.18

total

measured - - -

indicated 39.3 1.4 1.78

inferred 6.0 1.1 0.22

total 45.3 1.4 2.00
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Roxgold

roxgold has continued its track 
record of operational excellence 
at the Yaramoko Gold Mine since 
the first gold pour in May 2016 and 
in the first half of 2018 produced 
76,280oz of gold generating uS$57m 
from operations at a cash cost of 
uS$401/oz and an All-in-Sustaining-
cost of uS$686/oz. roxgold has 
since increased guidance for gold 
production in 2018 to 120-130koz.  
The mine development is well ahead 
of schedule as roxgold has focused 
on ensuring there is maximum 
flexibility in the mine plan. roxgold 
has done this with an impeccable 
safety record having achieved 
5 million hours Lost Time injury  
Free during the year.

upcoming catalysts for roxgold 
include an additional 40koz pa 
production (average over 4 years) 
from the soon to be commissioned 
Bagassi South Gold Mine nearby, 
as well as results from an extensive 
regional exploration program around 
the highly prospective Boni Shear.

roxgold is in a strong position with 
uS$66m in cash at 30 June 2018 with 
long term debt of uS$43m, and this 
includes roxgold self-funding the 
Bagassi South expansion.

Lion holds an indirect investment in Roxgold through its African Lion 3 
fund. Yaramoko’s 55 Zone has subsequently evolved into one of the 
highest-grade new gold mines globally with a Resource grade of 16.8g/t 
gold, and Resource and exploration upside remaining to be tested.
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Erdene Resources Development Corp

erdene is well established in 
Mongolia, having maintained a team 
and work programs through the 
mining downturn and the Mongolian 
moratorium on issuing new exploration 
licenses. Through a combination of 
100% held tenure and a Strategic 
Alliance with Teck, erdene is exposed 
to a substantial holding of unexplored 
and prospective geology in the fertile 
gold-copper Tian Shan Belt, which 
hosts several world class assets.  

erdene’s focus recently has been 
two, 100% owned gold epithermal 
discoveries which have both 
progressed to now have Mineral 
resources, located in South Western 
Mongolia.  

Highlights:
• completed drill out of High Grade 

and shallow Bayan Khundii to 
culminate in a maiden Mineral 
resource, as well as updating 
Mineral resources for Altan Naar 
to take the combined resources 
for the Khundii project to 10.1Mt at 
2.3g/t for 751koz gold (Measured + 
indicated) plus 5.2Mt at 1.8g/t for 
291koz gold (inferred). 

• Acquired 51% of the ulaan prospect, 
which is adjacent to Bayan Khundii, 
with alteration and lithological 
features that potentially support a 
model of a porphyry system.

• initial metallurgical testwork 
results for Bayan Khundii indicated 
gold recoveries from gravity and 
cyanidation of up to 97%.

• Listed on the Mongolian Stock 
exchange, to become the first 
cross-listed company on MSe.

Erdene is well established in Mongolia, having maintained a team 
and work programs through the mining downturn and the Mongolian 
moratorium on issuing new exploration licenses.  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   



18		 |	 LioN SeLecTioN Group LiMiTed  2018 annual report

EganStreet Resources

Having completed a Scoping Study in 
2016 and then pre-Feasibility Study 
in 2017, achievements of the last 12 
months have culminated in completion 
of a definitive Feasibility Study.

Highlights:
• discovery and delineation of a new 

high grade gold zone at Woodley’s 
east, parallel to and 30-40m 
into the Hangingwall from the 
main Woodley’s lode and Mineral 
resource.

• First drilling on the other 
mineralised shears for over  

20 years, results show 
mineralisation exists at multiple 
locations on the field presenting 
exciting exploration targets for 
future work.

• Appointment of key management 
personnel: cFo richard Hill, 
rothsay General Manager  
Jed Whitford.

• Secured an additional A$12m  
of funding from the exercise of 
listed options which expired in 
March 2018.

• Appointment of Financial Advisor 
for the development of rothsay

• increased Mineral resource for 

the rothsay project to 1.42Mt at 
8.8g/t for 401koz contained gold.

• Announced the results of a 
definitive Feasibility Study, with 
key results compared against the 
outcomes of the Scoping Study 
and pre-Feasibility Study in the 
table below.

• The company is on track to develop 
the project and pour first gold in 
2019 (subject to completion of 
financing).

• Lion exercised listed options 
(25cps) in March 2018 to maintain 
a shareholding of 16.4%.

EganStreet listed on ASX in 2016 in order to complete an assessment 
for mining and processing gold at its 100% owned Rothsay project in the 
Southern Murchison region of Western Australia.  

Scoping	Study	–	dec	2016 pFS	–	may	2017 dFS	–	July	2018

Gold Mined 106.2koz 210.7koz 278.0koz

Gold produced 100.9koz 200.2koz 250.0koz

Life of Mine 3.75 years 5.5 years 6.5 years

capex + Working capital A$20.5m + A$4.6m  
(Tot A$25.1m)

A$21.7m + A$8.9m  
(Tot A$30.6m)

A$36.1m + A$12.0m  
(Tot A$48.1m)

All in Sustaining cost A$1056/oz A$1020/oz A$1083/oz

Life of Mine Free cash Flow A$26.7m A$82.3m A$100.0m
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The activities of Lion are subject to risks that can adversely impact its business and financial condition. The risks and 
uncertainties described below are not the only ones that Lion may face. There may be additional risks unknown to Lion 
and other risks, currently believed to be immaterial, which could turn out to become material.  

risk	Factor Nature

investment	
in	resource	
companies

Lion has investments in a range of resource companies whose exploration, development and mining activities 
are at varying stages. Lion’s investees are subject to operating risks that are inherent to mining and exploration 
activities, and may influence the financial performance and share price of the investees. The value of Lion’s 
investments in these companies, and in turn the financial performance of Lion itself, will continue to be influenced 
by a variety of factors including:

• general investment, economic and market conditions as outlined above, which can affect the investee’s 
performance and share price;

• exploration is a speculative endeavour which may not result in investees finding economic deposits capable of 
being successfully exploited;

• mining operations may be affected by a variety of factors which may or may not be within the control of the investee. 
Whether or not income will result from exploration and development programs depends on the successful establishment 
of mining operations. Factors including costs, integrity of mineralisation, consistency and reliability of ore grades, 
metallurgical recoveries, and commodity prices affect successful project development and mining operations;

• depending on the location of its exploration and/or mining activities, an investee may be subject to political 
and other uncertainties, including risk of civil rebellion, expropriation, nationalisation, and renegotiation or 
nullification of existing contracts, mining licences and permits or other agreements;

• reliance on the performance of key management of Lion, investees and Lion Manager;
• investees may enter into hedging transactions to fix the commodity price for a portion of production and there 

is a risk that the investee may not be able to deliver into these hedges if, for example, there is a production 
shortage at their mining operations, which could adversely affect the investee’s operating performance if the 
commodity price moves unfavourably;

• investees that borrow money are potentially exposed to adverse interest rate movements that may affect their 
cost of borrowing, which in turn would impact on their earnings and increase the financial risk inherent in their 
businesses. in this situation there is also risk that an investee may not be able to repay its debts and may be at 
risk of bankruptcy;

• resource nationalisation, politicial unrest, war or terrorist attacks anywhere in the world could result in a decline 
in economic conditions worldwide or in a particular region, which could impact adversely on the business, 
financial condition and financial performance of the investee;

• there is a risk that investees may lose title to mining tenements if conditions attached to licences are changed 
or not complied with. Further, it is possible that tenements in which Lion’s investees have an interest may be 
subject to misappropriation or legal challenge in jurisdictions without well-established legal systems.  

• a form of native title reflecting the rights and entitlements of indigenous inhabitants to traditional lands may 
exist on investee’s tenements, such that exploration and/or mining restrictions may be imposed or claims for 
compensation forthcoming; and

• the high initial funding requirements of emerging exploration and mining companies can result in delays in 
developing projects and a lack of liquidity, which may affect Lion’s ability to invest or divest.  

market	
movements

The performance of Lion and the prices at which its shares may trade on ASX can be expected to fluctuate 
depending on a range of factors including movements in inflation, interest rates, exchange rates, general 
economic conditions and outlooks, changes in government, fiscal, monetary and regulatory policies, prices of 
commodities, global geo-political events and hostilities and acts of terrorism. certain of these factors could affect 
the trading price of Lion’s shares, regardless of operating performance. Lion attempts to mitigate these factors by 
implementing appropriate safeguards and commercial actions but these factors are largely beyond Lion’s control. 
The underlying value of Lion’s investments in its investees also may not be fully reflected in Lion’s share price.

reliance	
on	key	
personnel

A number of key management and personnel is important to attaining the respective business goals of Lion.  
one or more of Lion’s or Lion Manager’s respective key employees could leave their employment, and this may 
adversely affect the ability of Lion to conduct its business and, accordingly, affect the financial performance and 
share price of Lion. Further, the success of Lion in part depends on the ability of Lion and Lion Manager to attract 
and retain additional highly qualified management and personnel.

pani	Gold	
project

The company is exposed to operating risks associated with holding an interest in the pani Joint Venture including: 
• increased investment portfolio exposure to indonesian country risk.
• concentrated exposure to the inherent risks and uncertainties of the relatively early stage pani Gold project operations.  
• elevated exposure to the various counterparties to the contractual arrangements that create the ownership 

interest in the pani Gold project that may default on their contractual obligations or act in a manner contrary to 
the best interests of the company.

The company will need to fund its share of its 33.3% interest in the pani Joint Venture.  As the pani Gold 
project progresses towards development, it is anticipated that the company will need to undertake an equity 
raising in order to meet its commitments to the pani Joint Venture, which may ultimately lead to dilution for all 
shareholders. Further, there is no surety that the company would be successful with raising sufficient funds in an 
equity raising, risking material dilution or loss of its interest in the pani Joint Venture.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
   

   
   

   
   

   
   



Corporate Governance Statement

Because the mineral resource/ore 
reserve usually has both greater value 
and risk than purely financial assets, 
a company’s internal controls and 
processes surrounding establishing 
and announcing these are one of 
the most material aspects for pre-
production mining companies.  
This extends to studies that seek to 
establish parameters around how 
a mining operation might operate. 
This area may have been overlooked 
in the current ASX guidelines and 
consideration should be given for 
how mining companies approve such 
releases, and having geological and 
mining expertise at board level to 
understand the issues and provide 
formal approval. regulatory debate  
in 2016 has focussed on scoping study 
disclosure and restricting release 
of this information which is vital to 
investor comprehension and proper 
functioning of the ASX as a funding 
mechanism. Lion opposes  
any restriction on disclosure of 
feasibility work.

The ASX corporate Governance 
council requires listed firms to 
adopt a majority of ‘independent’ 
board members without links 
to management or substantial 
shareholders (ie 5% or greater 
shareholding), or explain ‘if not, why 
not’. The concept is that such directors 
should be more dispassionate and less 
biased in favour of either management 
or significant shareholders. We note 
that there is limited empirical research 
supporting that such boards add value 
to a company, and in Lion’s experience 
this structure can be detrimental 
for junior mining companies. Lion 
concurs that it is essential that a board 
operates as an effective check on 
management, however a non-executive 
director with a significant shareholding 
is often better placed to fulfil this 
role, and has interests closely aligned 
with the general shareholder register. 
Junior mining companies often have 
many challenges to be overcome to 
develop their projects, and need the 
necessary entrepreneurial drive to 
achieve this. in a crisis, an ASX-defined 
independent director risks being 
disinterested, overly conservative, or 
may lack the fortitude to see the task 
through when their personal incentives 
are limited to on-going directors fees.

The ASX guidelines provide that 
non-executive directors should not 
receive options with performance 
hurdles or performance rights as part 
of their remuneration which may lead 
to bias in their decision making and 
compromise their objectivity. Lion 
notes that pre-production mining 
companies almost always have limited 
cash, and issuing appropriately 
structured options both reduces the 
cash burden on the company and 
provides greater alignment with the 
interests of shareholders.

As a professional investor in junior miners, Lion is particularly focussed 
on the corporate governance of its investee companies. Lion’s approach 
is based on experience through multiple resource cycles and reflects its 
view that in corporate governance one size does not fit all and careful 
consideration must be given for smaller mining companies, notably 
a material sub-set of ASX listed companies. Three key departures are 
relevant, in particular for pre-production mining companies:

(1) (2) (3)
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Introduction
The Board of directors of Lion Selection Group Limited 
(Lion or the company) is committed to high standards of 
corporate governance. The company recognises that it has 
responsibilities to its shareholders and personnel, as well 
as to the communities in which it invests.

As required by the ASX Listing rules, this statement 
discloses the extent to which the company follows the 
corporate Governance principles and recommendations 
released in March 2014 by the ASX corporate Governance 
council (ASX recommendations). except where 
otherwise explained, the company follows all of the ASX 
recommendations. This corporate Governance Statement 
has been approved by the Board of directors of Lion 
Selection Group Limited.

PrIncIPle 1: lay solid foundations 
for management and oversight

the	Board
The Board of directors monitors the progress and 
performance of Lion on behalf of its shareholders, by 
whom it is elected and to whom it is accountable. The 
Board charter seeks to ensure that the Board discharges 
its responsibilities in an effective and capable manner.

The Board’s primary responsibility is to satisfy the 
expectations and be a custodian for the interests of its 
shareholders. in addition, the Board seeks to fulfil its 
broader ethical and statutory obligations, and ensure that 
Lion operates in accordance with these standards. The 
Board is also responsible for identifying areas of risk and 
opportunity, and responding appropriately.

responsibility for the administration and functioning of 
Lion is delegated by the Board to the chief executive officer 
and to Lion Manager pty Ltd (the Manager), which provides 
investment management services to the company. Through 
monitoring the performance of these parties at least annually 
by way of performance evaluations, the Board ensures that 
Lion is appropriately administered and managed. Lion’s 
investments are managed by the Manager. Lion’s Board 
reviews the Manager’s performance internally through the 
Manager’s reports, processes and presentations. The Board 
monitors the Manager’s staffing and processes.

in addition, the Board guides strategic planning and 
ensures it adheres to the interests and expectations of 
Lion’s shareholders, manages risks and opportunities, 
and monitors company progress, expenditure, significant 
business investments and transactions, key performance 
indicators and financial and other reporting.

management
The Manager has been appointed by Lion to implement 
its investment strategy and manage its investments. This 
includes all steps of the investment selection process and 
the making of recommendations to the Board. 

A Management Agreement has been established to 
formalise the relationship between the company and the 
Manager. The Manager, under this agreement, undertakes 
to act as investment manager for Lion. The Manager is at 
liberty to engage specialists and consultants as appropriate 
to assist in the investment assessment process and 
provides a regular flow of information to Lion’s directors. 
Lion’s Board retains the power to make the final investment 
decision on the basis of this information and advice. This 
retention of final investment decision allows the Board 
to effectively review the function and proficiency of the 
Manager and of the investment selection processes.

Further information on performance evaluations can be 
found under ASX principle 8.

Lion ensures that all candidates for directorship are well 
known to the company. in addition, all appropriate checks 
and due diligence are undertaken by the Lion board prior 
to nominating a director for election. information about 
candidates who are standing for election or re-election as 
a director including biographical details, qualifications, 
experience and other directorships is provided to 
shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision.

Corporate Governance Statement

recommendation	1.1
A listed entity should disclose:

(a)  the respective roles and responsibilities of its 
board and management; and

(b)  those matters expressly reserved to the board 
and those delegated to management.

recommendation	1.2
A listed entity should:

(a)  undertake appropriate checks before appointing 
a person, or putting forward to security holders a 
candidate for election, as a director; and

(b)  provide security holders with all material 
information in its possession relevant to a decision 
on whether or not to elect or re-elect a director.

recommendation	1.3
A listed entity should have a written agreement with 
each director and senior executive setting out the 
terms of their appointment.
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The terms on which the directors and senior executives 
are appointed is set out in the written agreement between 
the company or the Manager and the individual. This 
establishes the roles and responsibilities of each person, 
their duties and accountabilities.  

The company Secretary is responsible for co-ordination 
of all Board business, including agendas, Board papers, 
minutes, communication with regulatory bodies and ASX 
and all statutory and other filings.

Through the chairman, the company Secretary is 
accountable directly to the Board on all matters to do with 
the proper functioning of the Board.

While the company does not have a gender diversity policy 
at present, the company promotes a culture of equal 
opportunity and has the principles of equality, fairness and 
contribution to commercial success at all levels within the 
company. Lion recognises and values the blend of skills, 
perspectives, styles and attitudes available to the company 
through a diverse workforce. different perspectives in 
the investment selection process and stronger problem-
solving capabilities flow from a diverse workforce.

Workplace diversity in this context includes, but is not 
limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background.

Workplace flexibility involves developing people 
management strategies that accommodate differences in 
background, perspectives and family responsibilities  
of staff.

The small scale of the Board and the nature of the 
company’s activities make the formal establishment 
of a performance evaluation strategy unnecessary. 
performance evaluation is managed by the chairman.  
The chairman assesses each Board member’s 
performance and the performance of management 
(including the chief executive officer), the Board as a 
whole and its committees on an annual basis. This process 
includes one-on-one and collective meetings.

Corporate Governance Statement

recommendation	1.4
The company secretary of a listed entity should be 
accountable directly to the board, through the chair, 
on all matters to do with the proper functioning of  
the board.

recommendation	1.6
A listed entity should:

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors; and

(b)  disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in accordance 
with that process.

recommendation	1.7
A listed entity should:

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of its senior 
executives; and

(b)  disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in accordance 
with that process.

recommendation	1.5
A listed entity should:

(a)  have a diversity policy which includes requirements 
for the board or a relevant committee of the board 
to set measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and to assess annually both the objectives 
and the entity’s progress in achieving them;

(b)  disclose that policy or a summary of it; and
(c)  disclose as at the end of each reporting period 

the measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity set by the board or a relevant 
committee of the board in accordance with the 
entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards 
achieving them, and either: 

1. the respective proportions of men and women 
on the board, in senior executive positions and 
across the whole organisation (including how 
the entity has defined “senior executive” for 
these purposes); or 

2. if the entity is a “relevant employer” under the 
Workplace Gender Equality Act, the entity’s 
most recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as 
defined in and published under that Act.16
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PrIncIPle 2: Structure the board to 
add value

Lion recognises that recommendation 2.1 of the principles 
and recommendations of the ASX corporate Governance 
council suggests the establishment of a Nomination 
committee and associated charter. However, in view of the 
small size of Lion’s Board, the Board in its entirety, acts 
effectively as Nomination committee and there is no need 
to further subdivide it. As such, a Nomination committee 
is an unnecessary measure for Lion.

The Lion Board as a whole reviews the size, structure and 
composition of the Board including competencies and 
diversity, in addition to reviewing Board succession plans 
and continuing development.

it is a policy of Lion that the Board comprises individuals 
with a range of knowledge, skills and experience which are 
appropriate to its objectives.

A summary of the Lion directors’ skills and experience is 
set out below:

Lion’s constitution provides that the number of directors is 
to be determined by the Board shall not be less than three. 
As a matter of policy, the Board is comprised of a majority 
of independent non-executive directors. At present, the 
company has four directors – three independent non-
executive directors, being Barry Sullivan (who is also 
the chairman), chris Melloy and peter Maloney, and an 
executive director, robin Widdup. The relevant skills, 
experience and expertise of each director as well as the 
period of office held by each director are described in the 
company’s Annual report.

Corporate Governance Statement

recommendation	2.1
The board of a listed entity should:

(a)  have a nomination committee which: 
1. has at least three members, a majority of 

whom are independent directors; and 
2. is chaired by an independent director, 

 and disclose: 
3. the charter of the committee; 
4. the members of the committee; and 
5. as at the end of each reporting period, 

the number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or

(b)  if it does not have a nomination committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it employs to 
address board succession issues and to ensure 
that the board has the appropriate balance of 
skills, knowledge, experience, independence and 
diversity to enable it to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively.

recommendation	2.3
A listed entity should disclose:

(a)  the names of the directors considered by the 
board to be independent directors;

(b)  if a director has an interest, position, association 
or relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 
but the board is of the opinion that it does not 
compromise the independence of the director, 
the nature of the interest, position, association 
or relationship in question and an explanation of 
why the board is of that opinion; and

(c)  the length of service of each director.

recommendation	2.2
A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills 
matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity that 
the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its 
membership.

Skills	and	experience No.	of	lion	directors

leadership	and	Governance

Leadership 4

corporate Governance 4

Strategy 4

operations

Geology & exploration 1

infrastructure 2

engineering 2

project delivery 4

Finance	&	risk

Accounting 2

Finance 3

Acquisitions 4

risk Management 4

mining	investment 4   
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Corporate Governance Statement

The independent and objective judgment of Lion’s  
directors is of paramount importance to the effective 
operation of the Board. independence is defined for the 
purposes of the director as he/she being independent of 
any business relations, whether managerial or otherwise, 
with Lion or its actual or potential investments which 
might interfere with their ability to make sound, unfettered, 
objective judgments, and act in the best interest of Lion 
and its shareholders. 

The directors’ independence is regularly assessed by the 
Board. 

The majority of the Board of Lion are independent  
non-executive directors.

The executive director, robin Widdup, is a director of the 
Manager, which manages Lion’s portfolio. To avoid any 
conflict of interest and in keeping with the corporations 
Act, Mr Widdup is not present during any deliberations 
concerning Lion’s relationship with the Manager, nor does 
he vote in relation to such matters.

To accord with good corporate governance practices 
and in step with our objective of diversification of Board 
representatives, the roles of chairman and chief executive 
officer have been segregated. 

The directors of the Board are specifically and individually 
selected for their diverse skills and knowledge already 
acquired through their education, professions, experience, 
positions held and ongoing exposure to industry.  

Nomination,	Appointment	and	retirement	of	directors
if a vacancy occurs or if it is considered that the Board 
would benefit from the services and skills of an additional 
director, the Board selects a panel of candidates 
with appropriate expertise and experience and, after 
assessment, appoints the most suitable candidate.

Lion’s constitution requires that directors appointed by 
the Board submit themselves for re-election at the first 
meeting of shareholders following their appointment. 
Whilst directors are not appointed for a fixed term, under 
the constitution, one-third of the directors (excluding any 
Managing director) must retire by rotation each year and 
submit themselves for re-election by shareholders. 

directors’	Access	to	professional	Advice
in the discharge of their duties, directors have the right to 
seek independent professional advice at the expense of the 
company subject to the prior approval of the chairman. 

please see comments under ASX principle 8 with respect 
to the performance evaluation of the board, its committees 
and individual directors.

PrIncIPle 3: Act ethically and 
responsibly

The company’s code of conduct is as follows:

the highest standards of corporate governance practice 
and ethical conduct must be upheld by all directors and 
employees of both the Company and the Manager.

All directors and employees of the company must, and the 
directors must ensure that the Manager and its employees, 
preserve the highest standards of integrity, accountability 
and honesty in their dealings, operating in strict adherence 
to statutory and ethical obligations. All such individuals 
are to be mindful and respectful of relevant policies and 
responsibilities, must avoid all conflicts of interest or, 
where a conflict is able to be managed, must speak with 
the chairman about how the conflict should be managed 
(who will consult with the board of directors if necessary). 
Where there is uncertainty about whether a conflict exists, 
all directors and employees are encouraged to discuss the 
relevant circumstances with the chairman. All concerns 
about a breach of this code are to be reported to the 
chairman (who will in turn consult with the board).

recommendation	2.4
A majority of the board of a listed entity should be 
independent directors.

recommendation	2.5
The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an 
independent director and, in particular, should not be 
the same person as the CEO of the entity.

recommendation	2.6
A listed entity should have a program for inducting 
new directors and provide appropriate professional 
development opportunities for directors to develop 
and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to 
perform their role as directors effectively.

recommendation	3.1
A listed entity should:

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior 
executives and employees; and

(b)  disclose that code or a summary of it.
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The company’s practices are to be stringently monitored 
by the Board, while the Board itself must adhere to the 
principles of its charter and uphold a high standard of 
independence, objectivity and openness in its dealings and 
relationship with shareholders and the management team.

The Shareholder communications Strategy, the Securities 
Trading policy, and the continuous disclosure policy, 
which collectively form a solid ethical foundation for 
company practices, must be complied with at all times.

Securities Trading Policy

The company’s securities trading policy is as follows:

introduction
As a result of the nature of the business of Lion and the 
Manager, directors, officers and other employees of Lion 
and the Manager will be in possession of information 
regarding a wide range of small and medium sized 
exploration and mineral production companies. From 
time to time some of this information may be classified as 
“inside” information. They may also be aware of potential 
transactions between small and medium sized exploration 
companies and other companies.

u The Manager has a management contract with Lion, 
and also has management contracts with private funds 
African Lion and Asian Lion. 

u Lion and the Manager will continue to be in the 
possession of information on a variety of small 
companies which at times may be insider information.

u The Manager maintains a parallel Securities Trading 
policy which applies to all employees and directors of 
the Manager.

u office space is shared by Lion and the Manager.

1.	 the	policy	and	procedures	are	designed	to	prevent	
the	possibility	of	any	actual	or	perceived:

• conflict of interest between the Manager and Lion; 
and

• insider trading by the directors and employees (and 
related parties) of Lion. The policy extends to include 
investments for, or on behalf of the relevant director 
or employee, spouse, an associated company or 
trust, or any other related person, company or entity 
(related parties).

2.	 Summary	of	the	insider	trading	prohibitions	in	the	
Corporations	Act

	 meaning	of	insider	and	inside	information
 For the purposes of the insider trading provisions of the 

corporations Act, a person is an “insider” if the person 
possesses information that is not generally available but, 

if the information were generally available, a reasonable 
person would expect it to have a material effect on the 
price or value of securities (“inside information”) and 
the person knows, or ought reasonably to know that the 
information is inside information. 

 information is taken to be generally available if it: 

• consists of readily observable matter; or 
• has been made known in a manner that would, or 

would be likely to, bring it to the attention of persons 
who commonly invest in securities of a kind whose 
prices might be affected by the information and since 
it was so made known, a reasonable period for it to be 
disseminated among such persons has elapsed; or 

• consists of deductions, conclusions or inferences 
made or drawn from such information. 

 A reasonable person is taken to expect information to 
have a material effect in the price or value of securities 
if the information would, or would be likely to, influence 
persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding 
whether or not to subscribe for, buy or sell the relevant 
securities. 

What	activities	are	prohibited	under	the	Corporations	
Act?

 The corporations Act prohibits an insider from “trading” 
or “procuring” another person to trade in relevant 
securities and from “tipping” another person in relation 
to the relevant securities, whether as principal or agent. 

(a) trading means to subscribe for, purchase or 
sell, or enter into an agreement to subscribe for, 
purchase or sell any such relevant securities; 

(b) procuring includes to incite, induce or encourage 
another person to trade in the relevant securities; 
and 

(c) tipping means to communicate directly or 
indirectly inside information (or to cause the inside 
information to be communicated) to another person 
where the insider knows, or ought reasonably to 
know, that the other person would or would be 
likely to trade or procure a third person to trade in 
the relevant securities. 

3.	 Supervisory	procedures

 To assist in the adherence to this policy, the Lion  
Board will:

• ensure all directors, officers and employees of Lion 
are familiar with these policies and procedures;

• review on a regular basis and update as necessary, 
these policies and procedures;

• seek declarations of interests at each regular Board 
meeting; and

Corporate Governance Statement
   

   
   

   
   

   
   



 LioN SeLecTioN Group LiMiTed  2018 annual report	 |	 27

Corporate Governance Statement

• review the trading activity of each director and 
employee from time to time, including trading for 
or on behalf of the relevant director or employee, a 
family member (spouse or minors only), company or 
trust, or any other person, company or entity, and 
whether directly, or through a stockbroker or other 
intermediary.

 each director, officer and employee of Lion will annually 
provide the company Secretary with a statement that 
they are aware of this policy (or update), and have 
adhered to it for the prior 12 month period.

4.	 Compliance	procedures	

 The compliance procedures are as follows:

(a) directors and employees of Lion (and their related 
parties) are not to invest in or otherwise trade in 
the securities of:

• small and medium sized exploration and mining 
companies, (other than Lion);

• any company in which Lion, or any funds managed 
by the Manager, may have a material business 
transaction or association with or where such a 
transaction or association is being contemplated;

• any investee company of Lion, or any funds 
managed by the Manager.

 For the purposes of this policy:

• a small and medium company is defined as one 
with a market capitalisation of less than A$250 
million at the time of investment;

• material transaction or association means one 
which may be reasonably expected to have a 
material financial effect;

• investee company means any company in which 
Lion, or any funds managed by the Manager has, or 
is, contemplating an interest; 

• additionally, all employees of Lion, prior to 
making a transaction in the resource sector, must 
make reasonable enquiries to ensure they are in 
compliance with this policy.

(b) directors and employees of Lion must submit to 
the Lion Board a list of the names of resource 
companies with a market capitalisation below 
A$250 million (at time of purchase or have 
subsequently become) which were existing 
investments of that individual or a related party 
before the compliance procedures were enacted or 
in which the individual or related party held shares 
prior to becoming an employee of Lion.

(c) The sale of investments which apply to 4(b) above 
must be approved in advance by the other Lion 
directors.

(d) in special circumstances:

(i) following approval by the other Lion directors, 
directors or employees of Lion may acquire 
new shares in investee companies (e.g. floats, 
rights issues and placements) but not existing 
shares;

(ii) following approval by the other Lion directors, 
directors or employees of Lion may acquire 
shares through rights issues or placements on 
a pro-rata basis, in small and medium sized 
exploration and mining companies (normally 
only if that individual has a pre existing 
interest);

and

(iii) in the case of 4(d) above, individuals can sell 
following approval of the other Lion directors.

if there is a Lion employee or director on the Board 
of the investee company each sale must follow the 
approval of that Board member.

 (e) (i) With respect to the purchase and sale of 
shares in Lion by Lion employees or directors, 
transactions must only be in windows (as 
defined below) following quarterly reports, 
half yearly and full yearly financial results 
announcements, and the Annual General 
Meeting provided always that the person is 
not in receipt of inside information. Approval 
for Lion employees or directors to buy or 
sell shares in Lion to be given by one of the 
directors of Lion.

For this purpose, a window is defined as 
commencing the day after each relevant event 
or announcement, and ending 20 business days 
after that date.

(ii)  With respect to the purchase and sale of shares 
in Lion by Lion directors or employees outside 
the windows defined in 4(e)(i), prior approval to 
be given by the Lion Board.

5.	 Notification	requirements	

 All details of transactions above must be immediately 
submitted to the Lion Board and recorded in the 
register. The register is to be updated by the Lion 
company Secretary.
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6.	 Securities	trading	policy	–	Voluntary	3	month	rule

 The following proposal is an addition to the existing 
policy but is a voluntary section not requiring notification 
or record keeping with the Lion company Secretary. 

3 Month rule
• All listed investments must be held for a minimum of 

3 months.

philosophy
• Lion has an investment culture not a trading culture 

and should look to buy and hold for a medium to  
long term.

• individuals should not be active in non-Lion trading 
activities, during work time.

ethical Policies

Lion’s policies on indigenous communities, the 
environment and social governance are as follows:

local	indigenous	Communities
Lion’s policy is that developments of investees are not 
exploitative of local and indigenous communities and must 
assist local communities such through symbiotic project 
development. investees are to have a focus on health, 
education and employment of indigenous people near to 
investee companies’ development projects.

environment

Lion’s policy is that the environmental impact of 
developments be in line with country/international 
standards and not adversely impact local communities’ 
geology/economy.

Statement	of	Social	Governance

it is the company’s objective to achieve sustainable 
economic and social benefits to the communities in which 
mineral activity takes place by:

• recognising local realities and concerns;
• promoting dialogue and participation;
• building social and economic capital; and
• integrating activities locally and regionally.

To achieve its social governance objectives, the company 
considers the following areas of activity:

• exploration/access to land and resources.
• project development and governance of mining and 

processing activity.
• rent (royalty, tax etc) capture and distribution.
• Stewardship of water, biodiversity and energy use.
• Waste management.
• Social and environmental aspects of mine closure.

Subsequent stages of metals trade, smelting and refining 
may often be beyond the influence of the company.

PrIncIPle 4: Safeguard integrity in 
corporate reporting

The company’s audit committee charter is as follows:

charter of the lion Audit committee

Scope	and	Authority

The primary function of the Lion Audit committee 
is to assist the Board of directors in fulfilling their 
responsibilities by reviewing:

• the financial information that will be provided to 
shareholders and the public;

• the systems of internal controls that the Board and 
management have established; and

• the company’s auditing, accounting and financial 
reporting processes.

in carrying out its responsibilities the committee has full 
authority to investigate all matters that fall within the terms 
of reference of this charter. Accordingly, the committee may:

• obtain independent professional advice in the 
satisfaction of its duties at the cost of the company; and

• have such direct access to the resources of the company 
as it may reasonably require, including the external 
auditors.
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recommendation	4.1
The board of a listed entity should:

(a)  have an audit committee which: 
1. has at least three members, all of whom are 

non-executive directors and a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

2. is chaired by an independent director, who is 
not the chair of the board,  
and disclose: 

3. the charter of the committee; 
4. the relevant qualifications and experience of 

the members of the committee; and 
5. in relation to each reporting period, the 

number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or

(b)  if it does not have an audit committee, disclose 
that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity 
of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of 
the external auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner.
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Composition

• The Audit committee shall comprise three non-
executive directors. The Board will determine each 
director’s independence having regard to any past and 
present relationships which, in the opinion of the Board, 
could influence the director’s judgment.

• The chair of the Audit committee will be an independent 
non-executive director who is not chair of the Board.

• All members of the committee shall have a working 
knowledge of basic finance and accounting practices. 
At least one member of the committee will have 
accounting or related financial management expertise, 
as determined by the Board.

• A quorum will comprise any two committee members.
• The committee may invite the external auditor and 

members of the management team and Board of 
directors to attend the meetings and to provide 
information as necessary.

meetings

• The committee shall meet not less than two times a 
year or more frequently as circumstances require.  
Audit committee minutes will be approved by members 
of the committee at the following meeting of the 
committee and tabled as soon as practicable at a 
meeting of the Board.

• The company’s senior financial management and 
external auditors shall be available to attend all meetings.

• As part of its responsibility to foster open 
communication, the committee should meet separately 
with management and the external auditors, at least 
annually, to discuss any matters that are best dealt with 
privately. The committee should be available to meet 
with the external auditor if required.

responsibilities

• The Board and the external auditors are accountable to 
shareholders. The Audit committee is accountable to 
the Board. 

• To fulfil its responsibilities the committee shall:

review	of	Charter

• review and, if appropriate, recommend to the Board 
updates to this charter at least annually.

Financial	reporting

• review with management and the external auditors 
the financial statements and ASX releases in respect of 
each half year and full year financial result, and make 
recommendations to the Board in relation to such 
financial statements and ASX releases.

• review with management and the external auditors 
the accounting policies and practices adopted by 

the company and their compliance with accounting 
standards, ASX listing rules and relevant legislation, and 
recommend to the Board any appropriate changes to the 
accounting policies and practices.

• discuss with management and the external auditors 
management’s choice of accounting principles 
and material judgments, including whether they 
are aggressive or conservative and whether they 
are common or minority practices and make 
recommendations to the Board in relation to such 
accounting principles and judgments as appropriate.

• recommend to the Board that the annual financial 
statements reviewed by the committee be included in 
the company’s annual report.

internal	Financial	Controls

• review any reports prepared by the external auditor 
including the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
financial controls.

• Assess management’s programs and policies which deal 
with the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls 
over the company’s business processes.

• Approve changes to the company’s formal accounting 
policies and monitor their implementation.

• review jointly with management, the external auditors 
and if necessary, legal counsel, any litigation, claim or 
other contingency, including tax assessments, which 
could have a material effect on the financial position or 
operating results of the company.

• review and assess compliance monitoring programs in 
place within the company, in relation to financial controls.

external	Audit

• recommend to the Board the external auditor to be 
proposed to shareholders.

• review with the external auditor the planned scope 
of their audit and subsequently their audit findings 
including any internal control recommendations.

• periodically consult with the external auditor out of 
the presence of management about the quality of the 
company’s accounting principles, material judgments 
and any other matters that the committee deems 
appropriate.

• review the performance of the external auditor.
• review and recommend the fees and other 

compensation to be paid to the external auditors.
• ensure that the external auditor submits a written 

statement outlining all of its professional relationships 
with the Lion Group including the provision of services 
that may affect their objectivity or independence. review 
and discuss with the external auditors all significant 
relationships they have with the company to determine 
their independence and its investees.
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risk	management

• Assess the adequacy of the company’s insurance 
program.

• review the company’s internal controls in relation to 
financial risk.

other	matters

• The committee shall also perform any other activities 
consistent with this charter that the committee or 
Board deems appropriate.  

The current members of the Audit committee are peter 
Maloney, chris Melloy and Barry Sullivan with peter 
Maloney being the chair.  details of the number of 
meetings of the Audit committee held during the year 
and the attendees at those meetings are included in each 
Annual report.

prior to approval of any financial statement for a financial 
period, the chief executive officer of Lion (who is also 
responsible for the financial reports of the company) 
provides to the Lion Board a declaration in accordance with 
Section 286 of the corporations Act which also accords 
with recommendation 4.2

The external auditor of Lion is duly represented at the 
company’s Annual General Meeting and is available to 
answer questions from shareholders which are relevant to 
the audit.

PrIncIPle 5: Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Lion’s continuous disclosure policy is as follows:

Continuous	disclosure	policy

Lion and the Manager are committed to continuous 
disclosure of material information as a means of 
promoting transparency and investor confidence. The 
practices of Lion are fully compliant with the ASX Listing 
rules, including in particular those regarding continuous 
disclosure. 

Lion will immediately notify the market of any information 
concerning itself which is not subject to the exceptions in 
rule 3.1A of the ASX Listing rules and which a reasonable 
person would expect to have a material effect on the price 
or value of Lion’s securities. 

The chief executive officer and the company Secretary 
of Lion (together, ‘Management’), are responsible for 
the regular review of Lion’s affairs to ensure that any 
relevant information is promptly announced to the ASX. 
Management is well aware of its legal responsibilities 
regarding continuous disclosure under the ASX Listing 
rules. Management ensures that the processes governing 
the review and release of material information ensures 
compliance with these obligations, and that information 
is released in an efficient and consistent fashion. Where 
there is any disagreement or ambiguity as to the release 
of particular information, members of management will 
consult the full Board. events such as trading halts, if they 
occur, will be arranged by the Management. 

release of material information to the ASX is conducted 
by Lion’s company Secretary. Where the ASX contacts 
Lion, for example in the event of unusual share price 
fluctuations, communications are managed by the 
company Secretary.

The company expects listed investee companies to 
adopt and adhere to the same standards of continuous 
disclosures.

Corporate Governance Statement

recommendation	4.2
The board of a listed entity should, before it approves 
the entity’s financial statements for a financial 
period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration 
that, in their opinion, the financial records of the 
entity have been properly maintained and that the 
financial statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the entity 
and that the opinion has been formed on the basis 
of a sound system of risk management and internal 
control which is operating effectively.

recommendation	4.3
A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its 
external auditor attends its AGM and is available to 
answer questions from security holders relevant to 
the audit.

recommendation	5.1
A listed entity should:

(a)  have a written policy for complying with its 
continuous disclosure obligations under the 
Listing Rules; and

(b)  disclose that policy or a summary of it.
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PrIncIPle 6: respect the rights of 
security holders

in addition to the management and investment services  
the Manager provides to Lion, it also provides 
comprehensive investor relations services which are 
reviewed annually by the Lion board. Both the Lion board 
and the Manager are mindful of the importance of not  
only providing information, but also encouraging and 
enabling two-way communication between the company 
and its shareholders.

The company’s shareholder communications strategy is  
as follows:

Shareholder	Communications	Strategy

Lion places great importance on the communication 
of accurate and timely information to its shareholders 
and market participants. Lion recognises that efficient 
and continuous contact between the company and the 
interested public, and particularly with shareholders and 
their representatives, is an essential part of earning the 
trust and loyalty of shareholders, building shareholder 
value and allowing shareholders to make informed 
decisions regarding their investment in Lion. Lion 
encourages shareholder participation at general meetings 
and welcomes regular contact with its shareholders.

From time to time members of the Lion Board and 
Manager meet with shareholders and analysts. 
presentations made to those persons are published in 
the investor relations section of the company’s website 
and released to the market via the ASX if they contain 
information that may be price sensitive and is not already 
publicly available.

www.lionselection.com.au	

ASX announcements, quarterly reports, presentations, 
notices of meetings and explanatory material are posted 
to Lion’s website regularly. other information on the site 
includes details of Lion’s investment portfolio, Lion’s share 
price, information about the company and its governance, 
information from the Annual General Meeting and regular 
updates to investors as well as links to the share registry 
and other sites of interest. 

Share	registry

Lion’s register of shareholders is maintained by 
computershare investor Services pty Limited. 

Lion shareholders with internet access can view and 
update their holding, change their address details or elect 
to receive company communications by logging on to the 
computershare website and accessing the investor centre. 
Alternatively, the registrar for Lion at computershare can 
be contacted by mail, phone or fax. 

PrIncIPle 7: recognise and  
manage risk

recommendation	6.1
A listed entity should provide information about itself 
and its governance to investors via its website.

recommendation	6.2
A listed entity should design and implement an 
investor relations program to facilitate effective two-
way communication with investors

recommendation	6.3
A listed entity should disclose the policies and 
processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage 
participation at meetings of security holders.

recommendation	6.4
A listed entity should give security holders the 
option to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security registry 
electronically.

recommendation	7.1
The board of a listed entity should:

(a)  have a committee or committees to oversee risk, 
each of which: 
1. has at least three members, a majority of 

whom are independent directors; and 
2. is chaired by an independent director, and 

disclose: 
3. the charter of the committee; 
4. the members of the committee; and 
5. as at the end of each reporting period, 

the number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or

(b)  if it does not have a risk committee or 
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that 
fact and the processes it employs for overseeing 
the entity’s risk management framework.
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in view of the small size of Lion’s Board, the Board in its 
entirety acts, effectively, as a committee to oversee risk and 
there is no need to further subdivide it.

Lion is a specialist investor in listed and unlisted mining 
and exploration companies and assets and its major 
business risk is the performance of these companies and 
assets. risks associated with the exploration and mining 
industry include geological, technical, political, title and 
commodity pricing risks.

The main areas of business risk to the company arise from:

• failure of an investee company due to one or a number 
of the above causes;

• downturn in the stock market; and
• changes to the law – corporations/taxation legislation.

individual investments each have their own risks which relate 
to the mining industry generally. under the guidance of the 
Lion board, Manager has established procedures relating to 
investment and divestment decisions, and management of 
investments with emphasis on risk assessment. The Manager 
reports through monthly reports and at Board meetings on 
Lion’s investments and related risk.

The Board aims to reduce investment risk through 
diversifying investments geographically and avoid over 
dependence on a single commodity, investee company or 
country. in certain circumstances the Board may elect to 
have higher concentrations of the company’s portfolio in a 
particular commodity, investee company or country if the 
anticipated rewards merit this approach.

Lion has no internal audit function. The Lion board and 
Audit committee are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining an internal control structure. This structure is 
documented and periodically reviewed with the ceo.

The activities of Lion are subject to risks that can adversely 
impact its business and financial condition. risks and 
uncertainties are described in the company’s Annual report.

PrIncIPle 8: remunerate fairly  
and responsibly

Corporate Governance Statement

recommendation	7.2
The board or a committee of the board should:

(a)  review the entity’s risk management framework 
at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues 
to be sound; and

(b)  disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether such a review has taken place.

recommendation	7.3
A listed entity should disclose:

(a)  if it has an internal audit function, how the 
function is structured and what role it performs; 
or

(b)  if it does not have an internal audit function, that 
fact and the processes it employs for evaluating 
and continually improving the effectiveness of its 
risk management and internal control processes.

recommendation	7.4
A listed entity should disclose whether it has any 
material exposure to economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it 
manages or intends to manage those risks.

recommendation	8.1
The board of a listed entity should:

(a) have a remuneration committee which: 
1. has at least three members, a majority of 

whom are independent directors; and 
2. is chaired by an independent director,  

and disclose: 
3. the charter of the committee; 
4. the members of the committee; and 
5. as at the end of each reporting period, 

the number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it employs 
for setting the level and composition of 
remuneration for directors and senior executives 
and ensuring that such remuneration is 
appropriate and not excessive.

recommendation	8.2
A listed entity should separately disclose its policies 
and practices regarding the remuneration of non-
executive directors and the remuneration of executive 
directors and other senior executives.
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Compensation	Arrangements	and	remuneration	
Committee

due to the small size of the Lion Board and the fact that 
remuneration matters are monitored by the Board in its 
entirety, the Board believes a separate remuneration 
committee is unnecessary and inappropriate. 

Neither the executive director nor chief executive officer 
receives any remuneration from the company, but 
are paid by the Manager, which receives fees from the 
company as per the Management Agreement. Additionally, 
remuneration matters for the company predominantly 
relate to the remuneration paid to the Manager,  
something which is addressed by a set formula in the 
Management Agreement. 

Lion’s constitution stipulates that the aggregate 
remuneration available for division amongst the non-
executive directors is determined by the shareholders in 
general meeting. With shareholder approval, the aggregate 
was increased to $200,000 per annum commencing  
1 August 2011. This amount, or some part of it, is divided 
among the non-executive directors as determined by the 
Board. At present the aggregate annual remuneration  
paid to non-executive directors is $132,000.

d&o	insurance	and	indemnity

The company maintains a directors and officers and 
company reimbursement insurance policy.

An indemnity agreement has been entered into between 
Lion and each of the directors of the company and with the 
chief executive officer and the company Secretary. under 
the agreement, the company has agreed to indemnify 
those officers against any claim or for any expenses or 
costs which may arise as a result of work performed in 
their respective capacities to the extent permitted by law. 
There is no monetary limit to the extent of this indemnity.

performance	evaluation

The small scale of the Board and the nature of the 
company’s activities make the formal establishment 
of a performance evaluation strategy unnecessary. 
performance evaluation is managed by the chairman.  
The chairman assesses each Board member’s 
performance and the performance of management 
(including the chief executive officer), the Board as a 
whole and its committees on an annual basis. This process 
includes one-on-one and collective meetings.

Lion does not have an equity based remuneration scheme.

recommendation	8.3
A listed entity which has an equity-based 
remuneration scheme should:

(a)  have a policy on whether participants are 
permitted to enter into transactions (whether 
through the use of derivatives or otherwise) 
which limit the economic risk of participating in 
the scheme; and

(b)  disclose that policy or a summary of it.
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The directors of Lion Selection Group 
Limited (‘Lion’ or ‘the company’) 
submit their report on the operations 
of the company for the financial year 
ended 31 July 2018.  

At the date of this report, Lion had 
150,134,879 fully paid ordinary shares 
on issue and 15,720,958 options on 
issue with an exercise price of $0.50 
per share and expiry of 12 April 2020.

directors
The following persons were directors 
of Lion during the financial year and 
up to the date of this report:

• Barry Sullivan   
Non-executive chairman

• peter Maloney  
Non-executive director

• chris Melloy  
Non-executive director

• robin Widdup  
director

principal	Activities
during the financial year the principal 
continuing activities of the company 
were investment in mining and 
exploration companies.

operating	and	Financial	review
This financial report is prepared 
in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and therefore 
includes the result of the ‘mark-to-
market’ of the company’s investment 
portfolio in both the Statement of 
comprehensive income and the 
Statement of Financial position.  

The company’s loss before tax for 
the year was $11.8 million (2017 loss: 
$0.9 million). This includes a realised 
loss from the sale of investments 
and an unrealised loss from mark to 
market movements in its investment 
portfolio recognised in the Statement 
of comprehensive income as set out 
in the table below. 

The result for the year reflects a 
mark to market loss of $10.4 million 
with respect to investments, with 
key movements in the portfolio value 
outlined below:

• A decrease in the value of Lion’s 
holding in Nusantara resources 
of $6.5 million reflecting a 
weak share price following the 

company’s ipo as the market 
awaits the anticipated Awak Mas 
definitive feasibility study (dFS) 
and funding strategy.

• A decrease in the value of Lion’s 
holding in erdene development 
corporation of $3.9 million.  
Having benefited from an in-
progress discovery at Bayan 
Khundii during late 2016 / early 
2017, investor interest in the latter 
half of 2017 was impacted by 
political uncertainty in Mongolia, 
and a transition from discovery 
phase to assessment phase, 
which often results in share price 
softening.

• An increase in the value of Lion’s 
holding in one Asia of $2.2 million 
following the resolution of the pani 
iup dispute in december 2017 
allowing work to recommence on 
the pani Gold project, followed by 
Lion’s acquisition of one Asia’s 
33.3% pani Joint Venture interest 
in April 2018.

Director’s Report

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Gains/(loss)	attributable	to	movement	in	fair	value	of	investments

Mark to Market adjustment for period – investments realised during period (56) (34)

Mark to Market adjustment for period – investments held at end of period (10,326) 210

Gains/(loss)	attributable	to	movement	in	fair	value	of	investments (10,382) 176

results	of	investments	realised	during	period

Sales proceeds 650 133

Historical cost of sales (5,906) (2,615)

Gross	profit/(loss)	measured	at	historical	cost	on	investments	realised (5,256) (2,482)

represented by:

Mark to Market recognised in prior periods (5,200) (2,448)

Mark to Market recognised in current period (56) (34)

(5,256) (2,482)

Gross profit/ (loss) on investments realised during the period includes mark to market adjustments realised in the current 
period as well as mark to market adjustments recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income in prior periods as 
set out in the table above.

➔
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Lion’s directors believe it is important 
for shareholders that its financial 
statements and this report explain 
both the effect of realisation of its 
investments and mark to market of 
its investments on its results for the 
year. Based on historical cost, Lion 
made a loss of $3.6 million on its 
investment in Verdant Mining. This 
loss reflected the inability of Verdant 
to finance its phosphate project in 
Northern Territory due to challenges 
in the phosphate market. in addition, 
Lion made a loss of $1.7 million with 
respect to Manas resources reflecting 
the inability to finance its Shambesai 
Gold project in Kyrgyzstan, with Manas 
selling the project in 2017.

in April 2018 Lion acquired one 
Asia’s 33.3% interest in the pani Joint 
Venture in Sulawesi, indonesia. The 
transaction involved Lion issuing 
35,750,000 Shares and 23,833,333 
options to one Asia, with one Asia 
distributing 34,750,000 Shares and 
23,166,666 options by way of an in 
specie equal capital return to one 
Asia Shareholders in proportion to 
their respective interests in one Asia. 
Lion held approximately 35% of the 
issued share capital of one Asia, and 
accordingly received 12,168,562 Lion 
shares and 8,112,375 Lion options in 
one Asia’s capital return that were 
cancelled upon receipt.

Lion has been involved with the pani 
project since 2012 when Lion made 
its first investment into one Asia. one 
Asia published a Mineral resource 
estimate (Mre) of 90Mt at 0.82g/t 

for 2.4 million ounces of gold based 
on a 0.2g/t cut-off (3 december 
2014)1. Technical work on the project 
is accelerating again following 
settlement of a long running dispute 
with respect to ownership of the pani 
project dating back to december 
2013. Lion would like to acknowledge 
the outstanding contribution of its 
66.6% partner in the pani Joint 
Venture, provident capital, in 
resolving the ownership dispute.  
in the opinion of the Lion team, 
pani is shaping up as the best gold 
discovery that Lion has been involved 
with since its inception in 1997. The 
understanding of pani will unfold as 
the project is put through the rigours 
of various studies, however at this 
early stage three key factors are 
apparent at pani which point towards 
a large and low cost new gold mine:

• exceptionally thick and continuous 
gold mineralisation;

• Minimal overburden;
• early test work indicating very high 

heap leach recovery.

At 31 July 2018 the company held 
investments valued at $46.7 million  
(31 July 2017: $39.9 million), and  
cash of $1.5 million (31 July 2017: 
$3.5 million).

in october 2017 Lion completed 
a capital raising, comprised of a 
placement and share purchase plan.  
proceeds of the placement and Spp 
totalling $5.5 million strengthened 
Lion’s cash position to enable 
opportunistic participation in deal 
flow in junior miners.

during the year the company made 
new or follow-on investments 
totalling $6.4 million as follows:

purchases:	 million

eganStreet resources $2.6

pani JV $1.6

Nusantara resources $1.5

African Lion 3 $0.4

other investments $0.3

 $6.4

Sales:
Manas resources Limited $0.2

Verdant Minerals Ltd $0.5

 $0.7

dividends
No dividend was declared or paid 
during the year (2017: Nil).  

Compliance	with	environmental	
regulations
Lion has a policy that environmental 
impacts of developments of investees 
are in line with country/international 
standards and do not adversely 
impact local communities.  

Lion has not been notified by any 
investee of any environmental breach 
by any government or other agency, 
and is not aware of any such breach.

Significant	Changes	in	the		
State	of	Affairs
There were no significant changes in 
the State of Affairs of the company.

Director’s Report

1.  refer to one Asia resources Limited news release dated 3 december 2014 (https://www.lionselection.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/pANi%20Jorc%20reSource.pdf).

Summary	of	the	mineral	resources	at	a	cut-off	grade	of	0.2g/t	is	tabulated	below:

Classification tonnes	(mt) Au	Grade	(G/t) Au	(million	oz)

Measured 10.8 1.13 0.39

indicated 62.5 0.81 1.63

inferred 16.2 0.67 0.35

total 89.5 0.82 2.37

   
   

   
   

   
   

   



36		 |	 LioN SeLecTioN Group LiMiTed  2018 annual report

Significant	events	after	Balance	date
There has not arisen in the interval 
between the end of the year and 
the date of this report, any item, 
transaction or event of a material or 
unusual nature which has or may 
significantly affect the operations of 
the company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of 
the company in future periods.

proceedings	on	Behalf	of	the	
Company
No proceedings have been brought 
or intervened in or on behalf of the 
company with leave of the court 
under section 237 of the corporations 
Act 2001.

likely	developments	and		
Future	results
The company’s future operating 
results will depend on the results 
of its investments. The company’s 
ability to sustain profits is dependent 
on future sales of investments which 
in turn are dependent on market 
opportunities and the performance of 
the company’s various investments, 
which are difficult to predict.

There are a wide variety of risks 
associated with the mining and 
exploration industry including 
market conditions, exploration, 
operational and political risk, tenure 
of tenements, liquidity and native title 
issues. Because of the vagaries of the 
mining and exploration industry and 
the long term nature of most of Lion’s 
investments, the directors are unable 
to predict future results.

Corporate	Governance	Statement
in recognising the need for the 
highest standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability, 
the directors of Lion support the 
applicable principles of good 
corporate governance. The company’s 
corporate governance statement can 
be found in the investor section of our 
website www.lionselection.com.au.

employees
At 31 July 2018 there was 1 full time 
equivalent employee of the company 
(2017: 1 FTe).    

remuneration	report
All disclosures in this remuneration 
report have been audited. This 
remuneration report outlines the 
director and executive remuneration 
arrangements of the company 
as required by section 308 (3c) 
of the corporations Act 2001. For 
the purposes of this report, key 
management personnel of the 
company are defined as those persons 
having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling 
the major activities of the company, 
directly or indirectly, including any 
director, and includes the executive 
employed by the company considered 
to meet the definition of key 
management personnel.

key	management	personnel	
remuneration	Framework
emoluments of individual Board 
members and other key management 
personnel are determined on the 
basis of market conditions and the 
level of responsibility associated with 
their position. The emoluments are 
not specifically related to company 
performance and there are no long-
term or short-term performance-
related incentives provided to key 
management personnel. remuneration 
and other terms of employment for key 
management personnel are formalised 
in either service agreements or 
employment contracts.  

The remuneration policy in relation 
to directors is determined by the 
full Board. remuneration of other 
key management personnel is 
determined by the directors of 
the company. directors’ fees are 
determined within an aggregate 
directors’ fee pool limit, which 
is periodically recommended for 
approval by shareholders. As 
approved by shareholders at the 

Annual General Meeting held on 
1 december 2011, the maximum 
aggregate amount, including 
superannuation contribution, that may 
be paid to directors of the company 
as remuneration for their services is 
$200,000 for any financial year.

other key management personnel 
receive a base salary and 
superannuation contributions 
in accordance with Australian 
superannuation guarantee legislation.  

Lion’s only contracted executive,  
Ms Jane rose, is employed under an 
employment contract with no fixed 
duration. The contractual notice 
period under this agreement is 3 
months with no termination benefit 
specified in the agreement. The other 
Key Management personnel are 
not subject to any notice period or 
termination benefit with respect to 
their positions with the company.

The remuneration policy of the 
company with respect to directors 
and other key management personnel 
provides for director’s & officer’s 
(d&o) insurance cover, but does not 
provide options, shares, loans or any 
other non-monetary benefits.  

Voting	and	Comments	at	the	
Company’s	2017	Annual	General	
meeting
The company received more 
than 99% of ‘yes’ votes on its 
remuneration report for the previous 
financial year. The company did 
not receive any specific feedback 
at the company’s 2017 Annual 
General Meeting on its remuneration 
practices.

details	of	remuneration
details of remuneration paid/
payable to directors and the other 
key management personnel of the 
company are detailed in the table 
on page 31. The benefits provided 
to Key Management personnel are 
fixed with no at-risk components of 
remuneration.

Director’s Report
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(a) r A Widdup and c K Smyth are employed by Lion Manager pty Ltd, and do not receive any remuneration from the company 

Both Mr r A Widdup and Mr c K Smyth are executive directors and beneficial owners of Lion Manager pty Ltd and have the 
capacity to significantly influence decision making of that company.  Lion Manager provides management and investment 
services to Lion. These arrangements were approved by shareholders at Lion’s AGM on 5 december 2012, with ongoing 
management fees of 1.5% p.a. based on the direct investments under management, currently equating to $645,000 per 
annum plus GST. There is an incentive applicable which would apply where Lion’s performance outperforms a benchmark.  
in addition, up to a 12 month termination fee may be applicable should Lion seek to terminate the management agreement.  
Further details of the Management Agreement are set out in the Notice of Meeting for the 2012 AGM, available on Lion’s 
website. As at the date of this report no incentive fee had accrued with respect to the Lion Manager contract. 

in addition, from 1 August 2013 Lion has requested Lion Manager provide comprehensive investor relations services 
associated with Lion’s ASX listing for $12,500+ GST per month for twelve months. These arrangements are reviewed 
annually and may be terminated without fee.

2018
Short	term	BeNeFitS

termiNAtioN	
BeNeFitS

poSt-	
employmeNt

SuperANNuAtioN	
totAlSAlArieS/	

FeeS
CASh		

BoNuS

NAme	 NoteS $ $ $ $ $

directors

B J K Sullivan 47,440 - - 4,525 51,965

p J Maloney 15,000 - - 25,000 40,000

c Melloy 15,000 - - 25,000 40,000

r A Widdup (a) - - - - -

other	key	management	personnel

c K Smyth (a) - - - - -

J M rose 86,055 - - 8,175 94,230

total 163,495 - - 62,700 226,195

2017
Short	term	BeNeFitS

termiNAtioN	
BeNeFitS

poSt-	
employmeNt

SuperANNuAtioN	
totAlSAlArieS/	

FeeS
CASh		

BoNuS

NAme	 NoteS $ $ $ $ $

directors

B J K Sullivan 44,255 - - 7,706 51,961

p J Maloney 10,417 - - 29,583 40,000

c Melloy 5,833 - - 34,167 40,000

r A Widdup (a) - - - - -

other	key	management	personnel

c K Smyth (a) - - - - -

J M rose 86,055 - - 8,175 94,230

total 146,560 - - 79,631 226,191

key	mANAGemeNt	perSoNNel	oF	the	CompANy	–	remuNerAtioN	For	yeAr	to	31	July	2018
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Director’s Report

ShAreholdiNGS	oF	key	mANAGemeNt	perSoNNel	oF	the	CompANy

NAme BAlANCe		
1	AuGuSt	2017

ShAreS	iSSued	AS	
remuNerAtioN

Net	ChANGe		
other

CloSiNG	BAlANCe		
31	July	2018

directors

p J Maloney 1,740,389 - 200,000 1,940,389

c Melloy 4,861,824 700,003 5,561,827

r A Widdup 15,520,428* - (795,696)* 14,724,732

B J Sullivan 727,358 - 85,716 813,074

other	key	management	personnel

c K Smyth 416,743 - 869,409 1,286,152

J M rose - - - -

total 23,266,742 - 1,059,432 24,326,174

*  Mr Widdup’s shareholding reflects his relevant interest in the company including 3,822,351 Lion shares issued to Lion Manager on 27 July 2017 in exchange 
for uS$1,298,644 (A$1,720,058) payable by Asian Lion Limited to Lion Manager. Lion Manager has since resolved to distribute these shares to its ultimate 
owners with Mr Widdup’s entitlement expected to be 1,194,658 shares.

*  Mr Widdup’s shareholding as at 1 August 2017 reflected his relevant interest in the company including 3,822,351 Lion shares issued to Lion Manager on 
27 July 2017 in exchange for uS$1,298,644 (A$1,720,058) payable by Asian Lion Limited to Lion Manager. Lion Manager has distributed these shares to its 
ultimate owners with Mr Widdup’s entitlement being determined as 1,256,742 shares. in addition, Mr Widdup purchased a further 1,418,052 shares via the 
Share purchase plan and Share placement completed in october 2017 and received 351,861 shares by way of in-specie distribution from Lion Manager  
pty Ltd conducted on 31 July 2018.  

NAme BAlANCe		
1	AuGuSt	2016

ShAreS	iSSued	AS	
remuNerAtioN

Net	ChANGe		
other

CloSiNG	BAlANCe		
31	July	2017

directors

p J Maloney 1,740,389 - - 1,740,389

c p Melloy 4,861,824 - 4,861,824

r A Widdup 11,698,077 - 3,822,351* 15,520,428*

B J Sullivan 727,358 - - 727,358

other	key	management	personnel

c K Smyth 416,743 - - 416,743

J M rose - - - -

total 19,444,391 - 3,822,351 23,266,742

key	mANAGemeNt	perSoNNel	ShAreholdiNGS

At the date of this report the direct and indirect interests of the directors and other key management personnel in the 
ordinary shares and options of Lion are detailed below. No shares or options were issued as remuneration.  

optioNS	oN	iSSue

NAme BAlANCe		
1	AuGuSt	2017

optioNS	iSSued	AS	
remuNerAtioN eXpired CloSiNG	BAlANCe		

31	July	2018

director

p J Maloney - - - -

c Melloy - - - -

r A Widdup - - 234,572# 234,572#

B J Sullivan - - - -

other	key	management	personnel

c K Smyth - - 117,251# 117,251#

J M rose - - - -

total - - 351,823 351,823

#  Mr Widdup and Mr Smyth received options by way of in-specie distribution from Lion Manager pty Ltd.
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Barry	Sullivan		
BSc	(min),	ArSm,	FAusimm,	mAiCd		
Chairman
Barry Sullivan is an experienced and 
successful mining engineer with a 
career spanning 40 years in the mining 
industry. His initial mining experience 
was gained in the South African gold 
mining industry, followed by more than 
20 years with Mount isa Mines. in the 
final five years of his tenure with MiM, 
Barry was executive General Manager 
responsible for the extensive Mount isa 
and Hilton operations.

Barry was previously a non-executive 
director and chairman of exco 
resources and a non-executive director 
of catalpa resources, Sedimentary 
Holdings, Bass Metals and Allegiance 
Mining. He was also a non-executive 
director of Lion’s predecessor company, 
Lion Selection Limited.

Barry has been a non-executive 
director of Lion since december 2011, 
becoming chairman from 25 February 
2016. Barry is also Non-executive 
chairman for eganStreet resources.

peter	maloney		
BComm,	mBA	(roch)	
Non-executive	director
peter Maloney has broad commercial, 
financial and management expertise 
and experience. He has been chief 
Financial officer of Lion and an 
executive director of Lion Manager. 
prior to that he held senior executive 
positions with WMc resources and a 
number of other companies.

peter holds a Bachelor of commerce 
from the university of Melbourne and 
an MBA from university of rochester. 
He has also completed the Advanced 
Management program at Harvard 
Business School. 

peter has been a non-executive 
director of Lion since december 2010, 
including serving as chairman between 
1 January 2012 and 24 February 2016.

Chris	melloy		
Be	(mining)	(hons),	mengSc,	
mAusimm,	F	Fin		
Non-executive	director
chris Melloy is a mining engineer 
with some 40 years’ experience in 
the mining industry in operations, 
securities analysis and investment.  
He held senior positions in MiM and 
JB Were & Son prior to joining Lion.

chris was an executive director of 
Lion Manager from its inception in 
1997 through to 2011, becoming a 
non-executive director of Lion on  
1 November 2012.  

robin	Widdup		
BSc	(hons),	mAusimm		
director
robin has over 39 years of industry 
experience. He graduated from Leeds 
university in 1975 with an Honours 
degree in Geology. From 1986 to 
1997 robin worked as an Analyst 
and Manager for J B Were & Sons 
– resource research team. robin 
founded Lion Selection Group and 
Lion Manager in 1997.

robin is Managing director of Lion 
Manager pty Ltd and a non-executive 
director of Lion investees Nusantara 
resources, one Asia and Asian 
Mineral resources Ltd.

Other Key Management 
Personnel
Craig	Smyth		
BCA	(Acctg),	m	App	Fin,	CA		
Chief	executive	officer
craig Smyth graduated from the 
Victoria university of Wellington 
with a Bachelor of commerce and 
Administration, and has completed 
his Master of Applied Finance at 
the university of Melbourne. craig’s 
financial background includes coopers 
& Lybrand, credit Suisse First Boston 
(London) and ANZ investment Bank. 
He is currently the ceo of Lion and 
executive director of Lion Manager 
pty Limited. craig is a member of the 
institute of chartered Accountants of 
Australia and New Zealand.

craig is a director of pT pani 
Bersama Jaya with respect to Lion’s 
investment in the pani Joint Venture.

Jane	rose		
investor	relations	manager	&	
Company	Secretary
Jane rose commenced work in 1983 
as a legal administrative assistant.  
during the following 12 years, Jane 
held senior administrative positions 
with phillips Fox and corrs chambers 
Westgarth in Melbourne and Nabarro 
Nathanson in London. 

on returning to Australia, Jane worked 
as executive Assistant to the Managing 
director of Acacia resources Limited 
and AngloGold Ashanti Limited where 
she was also responsible for the 
management of various corporate 
initiatives, including marketing and 
co-ordination of investor relations 
activities. From 2002 to 2006, Jane 
worked for several Lion investees, 
including Mpi Mines Ltd, Leviathan 
resources and indophil resources. 
Jane worked with Lion in early 2007 
to assist with the merger, and she 
subsequently joined the company in July 
2007 as corporate relations Manager.

in November 2008 Jane was 
appointed company Secretary. 

Director’s Report
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directors’	meetings
during the year and up until the date 
of this report, the company held ten 
directors’ meetings. The table below 
reflects attendances of the directors 
at meetings of Lion’s Board. 

Audit	Committee	meeting
during the year and up until the date 
of this report, the company held two 
audit committee meetings.

The table below reflects attendances 
of the audit committee meeting.

directors’	Benefits
Since the end of the preceding 
financial year, no director has 
received or become entitled to 
receive a benefit, other than 
benefits disclosed in this report as 
emoluments or the fixed salary of a 
full time employee of the company or 
a related body corporate, by reason 
of a contract made by the company 
or related body corporate with the 
director or with a firm of which he is a 
member, or with an entity in which he 
has a substantial financial interest.

indemnification	of	directors,	
officers	and	Auditors
An indemnity agreement has been 
entered into between Lion and each 
of the company’s directors named 
earlier in this report and with the 
company Secretary. under the 
agreement, the company has agreed 
to indemnify those officers against 
any claim or for any expenses or 
costs which may arise as a result of 
work performed in their respective 
capacities to the extent permitted by 
law. There is no monetary limit to the 
extent of this indemnity.  

Lion has paid an insurance premium 
of $48,299 in respect of a contract 
insuring each of the directors, 
previous directors of the company, 
and other key management 
personnel, against all liabilities 
and expenses arising as a result of 
work performed in their respective 
capacities, to the extent permitted  
by law.  

Auditor	independence
We have obtained an independence 
declaration from our auditors, 
pricewaterhousecoopers, as required 
under section 307 of the corporations 
Act 2001. A copy can be found on 
page 36.

Non-Audit	Services
No fees for non-audit services were 
paid/payable to the external auditors 
during the year ended 31 July 2018.  
The directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed 
by the corporations Act.   

rounding	of	Amounts
The company is of a kind referred to 
in ASic instrument 2016/191 relating 
to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the 
financial report and directors’ report. 
Amounts in the financial report 
and directors’ report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that 
instrument to the nearest thousand 
dollars unless specifically stated to 
be otherwise.

This report has been made in 
accordance with a resolution of the 
directors.

B	J	k	Sullivan
chairman 

r	A	Widdup
director  
Melbourne

Director’s Report

BoArd	oF	direCtorS

AtteNded
mAX.	

poSSiBle	
AtteNded

p J Maloney 9 10

r A Widdup 9 10

B J K Sullivan 10 10

c p Melloy 10 10

Audit	Committee

AtteNded
mAX.	

poSSiBle	
AtteNded

p J Maloney 2 2

B J K Sullivan 2 2

c p Melloy 2 2
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Lion Selection Group Limited for the year ended 31 July 2018, I declare 
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and

(b)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

 

Anthony Hodge Melbourne
Partner 6 September 2018
PricewaterhouseCoopers 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK VIC 3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE VIC 3001
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Lion Selection Group Limited
Directors’ Declaration

in accordance with a resolution of the directors of Lion Selection Group Limited, we declare that:

1. in the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements, notes set out on pages 42 to 59 are in accordance with the corporations Act 2001 
and other mandatory reporting requirements, including:

(i)  complying with the Accounting Standards, the corporations regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

(ii)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company’s position as at 31 July 2018 and 
its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

2. Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with international Financial reporting Standards as 
issued by the international Accounting Standards Board.

3. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance 
with section 295A of the corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 31 July 2018.

4. The directors have been given the declaration by the chief executive officer required by section 295A of the  
corporations Act 2001.

on behalf of the Board

B	J	k	Sullivan	 r	A	Widdup

chairman director

Melbourne

date: 6 September 2018
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Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year ended 31 July 2018

NoteS 2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Gain/(loss) attributable to movement in fair value 4 (10,382) 176

interest income 96 267

other income 90 3

Management fees (804) (804)

employee benefits (223) (234)

other expenses 4 (576) (300)

(loss)/profit	before	income	tax (11,799) (892)

income tax (expense)/benefit 5 - -

Net	(loss)/profit	after	tax (11,799) (892)

other comprehensive income - -

total	Comprehensive	(loss)/income	for	the	year (11,799) (892)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interest - -

Members (11,799) (892)

Cents	per	share Cents	per	share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (9.0) (0.8)

diluted (loss)/earnings per share (9.0) (0.8)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 July 2018

NoteS 2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Current	Assets

cash and cash equivalents 13 1,512 3,523

Trade and other receivables 6 9 21

Total current Assets 1,521 3,544

Non-Current	Assets

Financial Assets 7 46,672 39,903

other Fixed Assets 8 27 34

Total Non-current Assets 46,699 39,937

total	Assets 48,220 43,481

Current	liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 1,905 1,429

Total current Liabilities 1,905 1,429

Non-Current	liabilities

Total Non-current Liabilities - -

total	liabilities 1,905 1,429

Net	Assets 46,315 42,052

equity

contributed equity 11 126,211 111,490

reserves 12 1,341 -

(Accumulated losses) 10 (81,237) (69,438)

total	equity 46,315 42,052

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 31 July 2018

NoteS 2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

interest received 97 202

other income received 90 -

payments to suppliers and employees (including GST) (1,584) (1,330)

Net operating cash flows 13(b) (1,397) (1,128)

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

payments for investments (6,771) (8,703)

payments for property, plant and equipment (2) -

proceeds from investments 650 133

Net investing cash flows (6,123) (8,570)

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

proceeds from issue of shares 5,529 -

payments for cost of share issue (21) -

Net financing cash flows 5,508 -

Net	(decrease/increase)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	held (2,011) (9,698)

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial period 3,523 13,221

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	financial	period 1,512 3,523

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year ended 31 July 2018

iSSued	
CApitAl

$’000

reSerVeS
$’000

ACCumulAted	
loSSeS

$’000

totAl
$’000

Balance	at	31	July	2016 109,770 - (68,546) 41,224

total	comprehensive	income/(loss) - - (892) (892)

transactions	with	owners	in	their	capacity	as	owners

issue of new shares 1,720 - - 1,720

1,720 - - 1,720

Balance	at	31	July	2017 111,490 - (69,438) 42,052

Balance	at	31	July	2017 111,490 - (69,438) 42,052

total	comprehensive	income/(loss) - - (11,799) (11,799)

transactions	with	owners	in	their	capacity	as	owners

issue of new securities – pani acquisition 13,228 1,787 - 15,015

Buyback and cancellation of securities – pani acquisition (4,015) (446) - (4,461)

issue of new shares – placement/Spp 5,529 - - 5,529

expenses of issue of new shares (21) - - (21)

14,721 1,341 - 16,062

Balance	at	31	July	2018 126,211 1,341 (81,237) 46,315
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

Note	1.	 CorporAte	iNFormAtioN	

 The financial report of Lion Selection Group Limited (‘Lion’ or ‘the company’) for the year ended 31 July 2018 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 6 September 2018. The directors have the 
power to amend and reissue the financial report.

 Lion is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia. The nature of the operations and principal activities 
of the company are described in the directors’ report. The registered address of Lion is Level 2, 175 Flinders Lane, 
Melbourne.

Note	2.	 SummAry	oF	SiGNiFiCANt	ACCouNtiNG	poliCieS

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. comparative information is 
reclassified where appropriate to enhance comparability.

(a)	 Basis	of	preparation

 These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the corporations Act 
2001. Lion is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

 The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards.The financial report also complies with 
international Financial reporting Standards (iFrS) as issued by the international Accounting Standards Board (iASB).  

 The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets that have been measured 
at fair value.

 The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to Lion under ASic instrument 2016/191. Lion is an entity 
to which the class order applies.

 Lion meets the qualifying criteria under AASB 10 of an ‘investment entity’, and entities controlled by Lion (Asian Lion 
Limited and Lion Selection Asia Limited) do not provide investment related services to the company. Accordingly, the 
company has applied the exemption from consolidating these entities and continues to carry these investments at 
fair value.

(b)	 New	accounting	standards	and	interpretations

 The company has not changed any of its accounting policies with respect to new and revised accounting standards 
which became effective for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 August 2017. 

 New	Standards

 AASB 9 Financial instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (december 2010) 
(effective from 1 January 2018).

 AASB 9 Financial instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The standard must be applied for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018 but is 
available for early adoption. The company has assessed the effects of applying the new standard and has determined 
that assets currently held as fair value through profit and loss will continue to be carried at fair value with all fair 
value gains/losses being recognised in profit and loss. The company will adopt AASB 9 from 1 August 2018.

 AASB 16 Leases results in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction between 
operating and finance leases is removed. The standard must be applied for financial years commencing on or after 
1 January 2019 but is available for early adoption. As at the reporting date, the company does not have any leases 
and does not expect the standard to have an impact. The company will assess the impact of AASB 16 if it enters into 
any contracts during 2019. At this stage, the company does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

(c)	 Significant	accounting	estimates	and	assumptions

 The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities are:

(i) Fair value of investments and other financial assets

 The company carries its investments at fair value with changes in the fair values recognised in profit or loss. 
The fair value of investments and other financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined 
based on either the last sale price, or where not available, the market value of underlying investments.  
determination of market value involves the company’s judgment to select a variety of methods and in making 
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. The key 
assumptions used in this determination are set out in note 2(j).

(ii)  Income taxes

 Lion is subject to income taxes in Australia. Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes 
and deferred taxes. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Lion recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current 
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

 deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it 
is probable that sufficient future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences 
and losses. This involves judgment regarding the future financial performance and is therefore inherently 
uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding future profitability change, there can be an increase or 
decrease in the level of deferred tax assets recognised which can result in a charge or credit in the period in 
which the change occurs.

(d)	 other	income

 other income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Lion and the 
other income can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before other 
income is recognised:

(i) Interest
 income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating 

the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the 
effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the fair value of the financial asset.

(ii) Dividends
 dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

(e)	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	

 For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less or 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(f)	 trade	and	other	receivables
 Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less 

an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.

 An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to 
collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.
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(g)	 Foreign	currency	translation
 Both the functional and presentation currency of Lion is Australian dollars (Aud).

 transactions and Balances
 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 
and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair 
value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as available-for-
sale financial assets are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(h)	 income	tax
 current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

 deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests 
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.

 unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

 deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018
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(h)	 income	tax	(continued)
 income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity as part of other comprehensive 

income.

 deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

(i)	 other	taxes

 revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

 cash flows are included in the cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are 
classified as operating cash flows.

 commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

(j)	 investments,	other	Financial	Assets	and	investments	in	Associates
 Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial instruments: recognition and Measurement are classified as 

either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or 
available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. Lion is a venture capital organisation, and designates its investments 
as being fair value through profit or loss. The scope of AASB 128 investments in Associates allows this treatment 
for venture capital organisations even though the company may have significant influence in an investee. After 
initial recognition, investments are measured at fair value, with gains or losses on fair value of investments being 
recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income. The fair value of assets is re-measured at each reporting 
date. This recognition is more relevant to shareholders and consistent with internal investment evaluation. 

 The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based on their quoted market prices at the end of 
the reporting period without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the company is the current bid price.

 The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation techniques. 
The company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at 
each reporting date. Valuation techniques used include the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing 
models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of 
market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. 

 All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the company 
commits to purchase the asset. regular purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under 
contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace.

 Investments in controlled entities

 during the period the company held a 100% ownership interest in Asian Lion Limited and Lion Selection Asia 
Limited and controls these companies. Lion is an investment entity for the purposes of AASB 10 consolidated 
Financial Statements, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, and AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – investment entities.  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018
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(j)	 investments,	other	Financial	Assets	and	investments	in	Associates	(continued)
 AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – investment entities is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 August 2014, exempting ‘investment entities” from consolidating controlled investees.  
investment entities are entities that:

(a) obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment 
management services;

(b) commit to their investor(s) that their business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation, investment income or both, and

(c) measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of their investments on a fair value basis.

(k)	 derecognition	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities

(i) Financial assets 

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or the company 
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

(ii) Financial liabilities
 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(l)	 impairment	of	assets
 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

(m)	 Borrowings
 Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Lion has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(n)	 payables
 payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company 

prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the company becomes obliged to make future 
payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition.

(o)	 provisions
 provisions are recognised when Lion has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 

is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018
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(o)	 provisions	(continued)
 When Lion expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the Statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

 if the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pretax rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(p)	 employee	leave	benefits	–	Wages,	salaries,	annual	leave	and	long	service	leave
 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave that 

are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are 
measured at the rates paid or payable.

 The liability for long service leave for which Lion has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least  
12 months after the balance sheet date is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 

 consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(q)	 Contributed	equity
 ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 

options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 if the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example, as a result of a share buy-back, those instruments 
are deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss 
and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised 
directly in equity.

(r)	 earnings	per	share
 Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than 

dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

 diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit, adjusted for:

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 
recognised as expenses; and

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution 
of potential ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(s)	 Segment	reporting
 operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the segments, has been identified as the Board.   

 investments have similar characteristics and so segments are determined on a geographical basis. The company 
invests only in small and medium mining and exploration companies with gold and base metal activities in 
Australia, Africa, Asia and the Americas.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018
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Note	3.	 FiNANCiAl	riSk	mANAGemeNt

Lion’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Lion’s overall risk management program is carried out under policies approved by 
the Board of directors, and focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the company. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as 
well as policies covering specific areas. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they 
are summarised below. Lion also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

Lion holds the following financial instruments:

(a)	 market	risk

(i) Foreign Currency risk
 Lion operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 

primarily with respect to the united States dollar (uSd), including with respect to commitments. 

 Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. To mitigate the company’s exposure to 
foreign exchange risk, non-Aud cash flows are closely monitored.

 The company’s post-tax profit is not sensitive to movements in the Aud/uSd exchange rate due to limited 
uSd denominated asset holdings. 

(ii) price risk
 Lion is exposed to equity securities price risk, with many of the company’s equity investments being publicly 

traded. This arises from investments held by Lion and classified on the balance sheet as fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the company diversifies its portfolio.  
diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the company, however from time to 
time the company may seek to increase exposure to particular investments. Lion does not hedge its equities 
securities price risk.

 Based on the financial instruments held at the end of the period, if the value of equity securities had increased 
by 10%/decreased by 10% with all other variables held constant, the company’s post-tax profit for the year 
would have been $4,485,500 higher/lower (2017: $3,858,600 higher/lower) as a result of gains/losses on equity 
securities classified as fair value through profit or loss.

(iii) Interest rate risk exposures
 Lion is exposed to interest rate risk through its primary financial assets. The interest rate risk exposures 

together with the effective interest rate for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance 
date are summarised below. Most assets and liabilities are current, maturing within one year, with the 
exception of investments in securities, the value of which will be realised at the discretion of the company.  
No decision has been made regarding the timing of this realisation.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Financial	assets

cash 1,512 3,523

investments in securities 46,672 39,903

Trade and other receivables 9 21

46,376 42,108

Financial	liabilities

Trade and other creditors 1,905 1,429

1,905 1,429
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2018

FloAtiNG	
iNtereSt		

rAte
$’000

FiXed		
iNtereSt		

rAte		
$’000

NoN		
iNtereSt	
BeAriNG				

$’000

totAl
$’000

AVerAGe	iNtereSt	rAte

FloAtiNG	% FiXed	%

Financial	assets

cash – Aud 1,512 - - 1,512 2.0 -

Bank bills and deposits receivable - - 9 9 - -

investment in securities - 46,672 46,672 -

Financial	liabilities: -

Trade and other creditors - - 1,905 1,905 - -

2017

Financial	assets

cash – Aud 3,523 - - 3,523 2.0 -

Bank bills and deposits receivable - - 21 21 - -

investment in securities 39,903 39,903

Financial	liabilities:

Trade and other creditors - - 1,429 1,429 - -

(b)	 Credit	risk
 Lion is exposed to credit risk. credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as 

well as credit exposures to counter parties, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Lion 
has a policy of maintaining its cash and cash equivalents with the ‘top 4’ Australian Banks. For other counter 
parties, if there is no independent rating, management assesses the credit quality of the party, taking into account 
its financial position, past experience and other factors. The maximum exposure to credit risk approximates the 
carrying values as disclosed above.

(c)	 liquidity	risk
 prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the ability to 

close out market positions. Lion manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows 
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Surplus funds are generally only invested in 
instruments that are tradeable in highly liquid markets.

(d)	 Fair	value	measurements
 The company carries its investments at fair value with changes in value recognised in profit or loss.

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted priced (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the reporting date. 
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Note	3.	 FiNANCiAl	riSk	mANAGemeNt	(continued)

 recognised fair value measurements

 The following tables present the company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value for the 
periods ended 31 July 2018 and 31 July 2017.  

 Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, unlisted investments) 
is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data 
where it is available and rely as little as possible on unobservable inputs. if all significant inputs required to fair 
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

 if one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in  
level 3. 

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments are applied in accordance with the international 
private equity and Venture capital Valuation Guidelines, including:

• price of recent investment.

• Net assets, looking through to the underlying assets held through interposed investment vehicles.

• The fair value of unlisted option contracts is determined using a Black Scholes valuation at the reporting date.

• The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments where available.

• other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial 
instruments.

Valuation processes

The Lion Manager includes a team that performs monthly valuations of the financial instruments required for 
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. This team reports directly to the Lion Board. discussions 
of valuation processes and results are held between the Lion Manager and the Lion Board at least once every six 
months in line with Lion’s half-yearly reporting dates, including changes in level 2 and 3 fair values.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

leVel	1
$’000

leVel	2
$’000

leVel	3
$’000

totAl	
$’000

At	31	July	2018

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

investments 18,623 11,185 16,864 46,672

total	Assets 18,623 11,185 16,864 46,672

At	31	July	2017

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

investments 26,896 10,511 2,496 39,903

total	Assets 26,896 10,511 2,496 39,903
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The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 July 2017 and 31 July 2018.

The Level 3 balance relates to Lion’s investment in one Asia and the pani Joint Venture. during the period Lion acquired one 
Asia’s 33.3% pani Joint Venture interest and invested further funds in the company. 

pani Joint Venture

in April 2018 Lion acquired one Asia’s 33.3% interest in the pani Joint Venture in Sulawesi, indonesia. The transaction 
involved Lion issuing 35,750,000 Shares and 23,833,333 options to one Asia, with one Asia distributing 34,750,000 Shares 
and 23,166,666 options by way of an in specie equal capital return to one Asia Shareholders in proportion to their respective 
interests in one Asia. Lion held approximately 35% of the issued share capital of one Asia, and accordingly received 12,168,562 
Lion shares and 8,112,375 Lion options in one Asia’s capital return that were cancelled upon receipt. 

The valuation of Lion’s interest in the pani JV at 31 July 2018 reflects the acquisition value of the interest in the pani Joint 
Venture based on the one Asia transaction consideration. in addition, Lion has advanced the pani Joint Venture uS$1,212,000 
in further funding.

As at 31 July 2018 Lion’s 33.3% interest in the pani Gold project was an economic interest with regulatory approval being 
sought by the pani Joint Venture to allow for foreign investors to hold equity directly. Subsequent to year end, this regulatory 
approval was received, and Lion’s 33.3% economic interest in the pani Joint Venture is now being converted into a direct 
equity ownership interest. in addition, Lion has now appointed representation to the board of the pani Joint Venture.

one asia

The valuation of one Asia has been reduced to $0.004/share consistent with one Asia’s underlying cash and listed 
investments. The Lion Board has opted to maintain its investment in one Asia within the level 3 investment category due to 
the uncertainty in the value of the investment.

 

investments	–	level	3
2018
$’000

2017
$’000

opening Balance 2,496 8,559

Transfers into Level 3 (from level 2) - (12,236)

Transfers out of Level 3 (to level 2) - -

other increases (purchases) 16,838 5,095

(Losses)/Gains recognised in profit or loss (2,470) 1,078

Closing	balance 16,864 2,496
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Note	4.	 iNCome	ANd	eXpeNSeS

Lion is a long term investor and investment performance generally spans a number of financial periods. Measured on 
historic cost, gross profit/(loss) on investments realised during the year includes mark to market adjustments realised in the 
current year as well as mark to market adjustments recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income in prior years 
as set out in the table below.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Gain/(loss)	attributable	to	movement	in	fair	value	of	investments

Mark to Market adjustment for year – investments realised during year (56) (34)

Mark to Market adjustment for year – investments held at end of year (10,326) 210

Gain/(loss)	attributable	to	movement	in	fair	value	of	investments	as		
recorded	in	the	Statement	of	Comprehensive	income

(10,382) 176

results	of	investments	realised	during	year

proceeds from sale of shares 650 133

Historical cost of investment sales (5,906) (2,615)

Gross profit/ (loss) measured at historical cost on investments realised (5,256) (2,482)

represented by:

Mark to Market recognised in prior periods (including on acquisition) (5,200) (2,448)

Mark to Market recognised in current year (56) (34)

(5,256) (2,482)

the	total	comprehensive	(loss)/profit	is	after	charging	the	following	other	expenses

investor relations 177 84

d & o insurance 48 46

Legal expenses 151 17

depreciation 9 9

corporate overheads 190 144

total	other	expenses 576 300
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2018
$’000

2017
$’000

current income tax - -

deferred income tax - -

income	tax	expense/(benefit)	reported	in	the	Statement	of	Comprehensive	income - -

reconciliation	of	income	tax	expense

profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax (11,799) (892)

prima facie tax thereon at 30% (3,540) (268)

Tax effect of permanent and other differences:

Non-deductible expenses - 17

Accounting mark to market movement in the fair value of investments 3,115 (53)

realised gain/(loss) on sale of investments (1,577) (745)

deductible business related capital expenditure under Section 40-880 - (33)

Tax benefit not recognised for accounting purposes 2,002 1,082

total	current	income	tax	(benefit)/expense	 - -

Note	5.	 iNCome	tAX	eXpeNSe

(a)		Statement	of	Comprehensive	income

Note	6.	 reCeiVABleS	(CurreNt)

Sundry debtors 9 21

total	current	receivables,	net 9 21

unrecognised temporary differences at 31 July relate to the following:

Tax losses available – revenue account 11,299 9,864

Tax losses available – capital account 70,052 64,797

Temporary difference – unrealised investments Note (i) 43,468 41,671

Accrued expenses/other temporary differences 63 68

unrecognised	tax	losses	and	temporary	differences	at	31	July 124,882 116,400

potential	tax	Benefit	@	30% 37,465 34,920

Note (i) – Temporary difference – unrealised investments
Temporary difference – unrealised investments arises from the difference between the fair value and taxable value of the investment

(b)	 unrecognised	temporary	differences

 A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial position as the benefits will only be realised 
if the conditions for deductibility and/or recognition set out in Note 2(h) occur. 
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Note	7.	 FiNANCiAl	ASSetS

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2018

Listed shares are readily saleable with no fixed terms, with the exception of 20,802,944 shares acquired in the ipo of 
Nusantara resources Limited that are escrowed until 2 August 2019 ($4,368,618). 

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Listed investments (at fair value) 18,623 35,096

unlisted investments (at fair value) 28,049 4,807

total	non-current	financial	assets 46,672 39,903

plant, property and equipment – cost 79 77

Accumulated depreciation (52) (43)

total	other	assets 27 34

Note	9.	 pAyABleS	(CurreNt)

Sundry creditors and accruals 88 90

Amounts payable to related body corporate 1,817 1,339

total	current	payables 1,905 1,429

Note	10.	retAiNed	proFitS	

movements	in	retained	earnings	were	as	follows:

(Accumulated losses) at the beginning of the financial year (69,438) (68,546)

Net profit/(loss) for period (11,799) (892)

(Accumulated	losses)	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year (81,237) (69,438)

Note	11.	CoNtriButed	eQuity

issued and paid up capital (fully paid)

opening Balance 111,490 109,770

Shares issued – placement/ Spp 5,529 1,720

Shares issued – pani acquisition 13,228 -

Buyback and cancellation of securities – pani acquisition (4,015) -

expenses of issue of new shares (21) -

issued	and	paid	up	capital	(fully	paid) 126,211 111,490

Note	8.	 other	ASSetS	(FiXed)

Trade and other payables included a net amount payable to Asian Lion. during the year, the company concluded that disclosing this amount 
on a gross basis is more meaningful for its users. The prior year balances for trade and other payables and financial assets have therefore 
been restated to ensure the financial information presented is complete and comparable. There was no impact to the prior year’s statement 
of comprehensive income or net assets arising from this restatement. The loan payable to Asian Lion of $1.8 million (2016 - $1.3 million) is 
interest free and payable at call.
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Note	11.	CoNtriButed	eQuity	(continued)

in April 2018 Lion acquired one Asia’s 33.3% interest in the pani Joint Venture in Sulawesi, indonesia. The transaction 
involved Lion issuing 35,750,000 Shares and 23,833,333 options to one Asia, with one Asia distributing 34,750,000 Shares 
and 23,166,666 options by way of an in specie equal capital return to one Asia Shareholders in proportion to their respective 
interests in one Asia. Lion held approximately 35% of the issued share capital of one Asia, and accordingly received 12,168,562 
Lion shares and 8,112,375 Lion options in one Asia’s capital return that were cancelled upon receipt. 

Capital risk Management

Lion’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders.  in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Lion may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

Note	12.	optioN	reSerVe
2018
$’000

2017	
$’000

opening Balance - -

options issued – pani acquisition 1,787 -

Buyback and cancellation of securities – pani acquisition (446) -

option	reserve 1,341 -

Share	Capital 2018	
ShAreS

2017
ShAreS

issued and paid up capital (fully paid)

opening Balance 110,733,981 106,911,630

Shares issued 51,569,460 3,822,351

Buyback and cancellation of treasury shares (12,168,562) -

issued	and	paid	up	capital	(fully	paid) 150,134,879 110,733,981

options 2018	
optioNS

2017
optioNS

opening Balance - -

options issued – pani acquisition 23,833,333 -

Buyback and cancellation of treasury shares (8,112,375) -

options	on	issue	 15,720,958 -

under the terms of Lion’s purchase of one Asia resources Limited’s 33.3% Joint Venture interest in the pani Gold project, 
Lion issued to one Asia 35,750,000 Lion shares at a deemed price of $0.37 per share and 23,833,333 Lion options at a 
deemed price of $0.075 per option exercisable to acquire ordinary shares at $0.50 per share, expiring on 12 April 2020.
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Net (loss)/profit after income tax (11,799) (892)

 Adjustments for non cash income and expense items:

Movement in fair value of investments (increase)/decrease in assets 10,382 (176)

other non-cash (income)/expense 11 (59)

(increase)/decrease in assets:

other receivables 12 (10)

(decrease)/increase in liabilities:

payables (3) 9

Net	cash	flow	from	operating	activities (1,397) (1,128)

(b)		reconciliation	of	Net	profit/(loss)	after	income	tax	to		
Net	Cash	provided	by	operating	Activities	 	

Note	13.	NoteS	to	the	StAtemeNt	oF	CASh	FloWS

(a)		reconciliation	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	

 For the purpose of the Statement of Financial position and Statement of cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand and in banks, term deposits, cash managed by third parties and other bank securities which can be 
liquidated at short notice, net of outstanding bank overdrafts if applicable.

 cash at the end of the year as shown in the Statement of cash Flows is reconciled to the related item in the Statement 
of Financial position as follows:

2018
$’000

2017	
$’000

Cash	on	hand	and	at	bank 1,512 3,523

(c)		Non-cash	investing	and	financing	activities	 	

 during 2018 Lion acquired one Asia’s 33.3% interest in the pani Joint Venture in Sulawesi, indonesia. The transaction 
involved Lion issuing 35,750,000 Shares and 23,833,333 options to one Asia, with one Asia distributing 34,750,000 Shares 
and 23,166,666 options by way of an in specie equal capital return to one Asia Shareholders in proportion to their 
respective interests in one Asia. Lion held approximately 35% of the issued share capital of one Asia, and accordingly 
received 12,168,562 Lion shares and 8,112,375 Lion options in one Asia’s capital return that were cancelled upon receipt.  
in addition, during 2018 Asian Lion Limited transferred investments to Lion at market value of $512,078 (2017: $3,125,772) 
with an inter-group loan recognised between the parties.  

Note	14.	eArNiNGS	per	ShAre
2018
$’000

2017
$’000

(a) (Loss)/earnings used in calculating earnings per share – basic and diluted (11,799) (892)

2018
NumBer

2017
NumBer

(b)	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 130,377,770 106,953,519

The calculation of weighted average number for the diluted earnings per share does not include any potential ordinary shares with respect 
to options as the options on issue are not considered to be dilutive for the current period (2017: nil).
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Note	15.	CommitmeNtS

Superannuation	Commitments

Lion does not have its own superannuation plan. The only commitment to superannuation is with respect to statutory 
commitments. At balance date, the company was contributing to various approved superannuation funds at the choice of 
employees at a minimum rate of 9.5% of salaries paid. employees are able to make additional contributions to their chosen 
superannuation funds by way of salary sacrifice up to the age based deductible limits for taxation purposes.

2018	
$’000

2017	
$’000

(a)	 Audit	Services 	

 Audit and review of financial reports 99,079 84,275

 Total remuneration for audit services 99,079 84,275

(b)	 Non-audit	Services	 	

 No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 31 July 2018 (2017: Nil).

Note	16.	remuNerAtioN	oF	AuditorS

Note	17.	relAted	pArty	diSCloSureS

(a)	 directors	and	key	management	personnel

 The directors and key management personnel in office during the financial year and up until the date of this report are 
as follows: 

 Barry Sullivan   (Non-executive chairman) 
 peter Maloney  (Non-executive director)
 chris Melloy  (Non-executive director) 
 robin Widdup  (director) 
 craig Smyth  (chief executive officer)
 Jane rose  (company Secretary)

(b)	 lion	manager	pty	ltd	Contract

 Lion entered into a Management Agreement with Lion Manager pty Ltd (Lion Manager), under which Lion Manager 
provides the company with management and investment services. The arrangements were approved by shareholders 
at Lion’s AGM on 5 december 2012, with ongoing management fees of 1.5% p.a. based on the direct investments under 
management, currently equating to $645,000 per annum plus GST. There is an incentive applicable which would apply 
where Lion’s performance outperforms a benchmark. in addition, up to a 12 month termination fee may be applicable 
should Lion seek to terminate the management agreement. Further details of the Management Agreement are set out 
in the Notice of Meeting for the 2012 AGM, available on Lion’s website. As at the date of this report no incentive fee had 
accrued with respect to the Lion Manager contract. 

 in addition, from 1 August 2013 Lion has requested Lion Manager provide comprehensive investor relations services 
associated with Lion’s ASX listing for $12,500 + GST per month for twelve months. These arrangements are reviewed 
annually and may be terminated without fee.

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Short term employee benefits 163,495 146,560

post-employment benefits 62,700 79,631

 226,195 226,191

(c)	 key	management	personnel	remuneration
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CArryiNG	AmouNt eNtity	oWNerShip

2018	
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
%

2017
%

The company had direct ownership of the  
following material investments at year end:

African Lion 3 9,006 9,154 24 24

Asian Lion 1,774 4,895 100 100

egan Street resources 4,862 2,934 16 17

erdene resource development 2,338 5,216 8 4

Lion Selection Asia 341 - 100 -

Nusantara resources 8,132 13,179 32 32

one Asia 225 2,496 35 35

pani Joint Venture 16,628 - 33* -

Note	18.	mAteriAl	iNVeStmeNtS

each of the above companies is involved in the mining and exploration industry.

* As at 31 July 2018 Lion’s 33.3% interest in the pani Gold project was an economic interest with regulatory approval being sought by the pani Joint 
Venture to allow for foreign investors to hold equity directly.  Subsequent to year end, this regulatory approval was received, and Lion’s 33.3% 
economic interest in the pani Joint Venture is now being converted into a direct equity ownership interest.

Note	19.	SeGmeNt	iNFormAtioN

Management has determined the company’s segments based on the internal reporting reviewed by the Board to make 
strategic decisions. The company provides patient equity capital to carefully selected small and medium mining enterprises.  
investments have similar characteristics and so segments are determined on a geographical basis.Lion invests only 
in mining and exploration companies and projects with gold and base metal activities in Australia, Africa, Asia and the 
Americas. information with respect to Geographical Segments is set out below.

2018
AuStrAliA

$’000
AFriCA
$’000

ASiA
$’000

AmeriCAS
$’000

uNAlloCAted
$’000

totAl
$’000

Mark to Market adjustment (754) (518) (9,087) - - (10,359)

Segment	income (754) (518) (9,087) - 186 (10,173)

Segment expense - - - - (1,603) (1,603)

Segment	result	Before	tax (754) (518) (9,087) - (1,417) (11,776)

Segment Assets 4,862 9,648 32,162 - 1,548 48,220

Segment Liabilities - - 1,817 - 88 1,905

other	Segment	information

Assets Acquired during the period 2,606 818 18,362 - - 21,786

Cash	Flow	information

Net cash flow from operating activities - - - - (1,397) (1,397)

Net cash flow from investing activities (2,172) (477) (3,472) - (2) (6,123)

Net cash flow from financing activities - - - - 5,508 5,508
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Note	19.	SeGmeNt	iNFormAtioN	(continued)

2017
AuStrAliA

$’000
AFriCA
$’000

ASiA
$’000

AmeriCAS
$’000

uNAlloCAted
$’000

totAl
$’000

Mark to Market adjustment 936 (5,084) 4,341 (17) - 176

Segment	income 936 (5,084) 4,341 (17) 270 446

Segment expense - - - - (1,338) (1,338)

Segment	result	Before	tax 936 (5,084) 4,341 (17) (1,068) (892)

Segment Assets 3,468 9,348 27,087 - 3,578 43,481

Segment Liabilities - - 1,339 - 90 1,429

other	Segment	information

Assets Acquired during the period 1,032 569 21,636 - - 23,237

Cash	Flow	information

Net cash inflow from operating activities - - - - (1,128) (1,128)

Net cash inflow from investing activities (953) (514) (7,103) - - (8,570)

Net cash inflow from financing activities - - - - - -

Note	20.	eVeNtS	oCCuriNG	AFter	the	reportiNG	period

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event 
of a material or unusual nature which has or may significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future periods.
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Lion Selection Group Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of Lion Selection Group Limited (the Company) is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 July 2018 and of its financial  
performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited

The financial report comprises:

•         the statement of financial position as at 31 July 2018
•         the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended
•         the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
•         the statement of cash flows for the year then ended
•         the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies
•         the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Our audit approach
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial report.

The principal activities of the Company involve investing in mining and exploration companies through a number of 
listed and unlisted investments.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial 
report as a whole, taking into account the accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates.
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• For the purpose of our audit we used overall materiality of $463,000, which represents approximately 1% of the 
Company’s net assets.

• We applied this threshold, together with qualitative considerations, to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, 
timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements on the financial report as a whole.

• We chose net assets, because, in our view the performance of the Company is measured against the net value of 
investments held and it is a commonly accepted benchmark within the investment industry.

• We used a 1% threshold based on our professional judgement, noting it is within the range of commonly accepted net 
asset related benchmarks.

• Our audit focused on where the Company made subjective judgements; for example, significant accounting estimates 
involving assumptions and inherently uncertain future events.

• The Company’s finance function and corporate office is based in Melbourne, where we predominantly performed our 
audit procedures.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a particular audit procedure is made in that context. We communicated the 
key audit matters to the Audit Committee.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Carrying value of investments
Refer to note 3(d)

The total carrying value of investments 
comprises 3 levels in line with AASB 13:

•  Level 1 - $18.6 million
•  Level 2 - $11.2 million
•  Level 3 - $16.9 million
 Total    - $46.7 million

We focused on the fair value applied 
by the Company to listed and unlisted 
investments due to the significant 
impact any movement in the fair value 
as at 31 July 2018 could have on the net 
assets.

We also had particular regard to 
the valuation technique applied by 
the Company to its unlisted equity 
investments and the Pani project. 
There is particular judgement involved 
in estimating the fair value of these 
investments given they are classified as 
Level 3 with unobservable inputs.

We obtained the Company’s investment schedule as at 31 July 2018 which 
includes a listing of each investment held and details the number of shares 
held and value per share. We reconciled this to the amounts recorded by the 
Company as at 31 July 2018, identifying no significant reconciling differences.

We assessed whether the listed and unlisted investment valuation techniques 
used by the Company are in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
and other relevant accounting standards.

We tested the fair values applied to investments as follows:

• We obtained confirmations of the number of shares held for all material 
listed and unlisted investments.

• For all material listed investments (Level 1: $18.6 million) we compared their 
fair value to market quoted prices.

• For a sample of unlisted investments (Level 2: $11.2m) we obtained and 
assessed observable market data, if available, such as the most recent 
transacted price made on arm’s length basis. Where not available, we 
reviewed other available financial information such as the most recent 
annual reports, financial statements and shareholder presentations in respect 
of the unlisted investments held by the Company.

• For the investment in the Pani project (Level 3: $16.6 million) our 
procedures are outlined below.

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit matters
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report for the year ended 31 July 2018, including the Director’s Report (but does not include the financial report and 
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. We also expect other information 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report, including the Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders, Lion 
Selection Group Investment Summary, Lion Manager’s Report, Lion Performance, Principal Risks and Uncertainties, 
Corporate Governance Statement, Shareholder Information, Lion Selection Group Limited Registry, Corporate Directory and 
an overview of investments including Nusantara Resources, One Asia Resources, Roxgold, Erdene Resources Development 
Corp and EganStreet Resources.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our professional judgement to determine the 
appropriate action to take.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Classification and measurement 
of the acquired interest in the Pani 
project
Refer to note 3(d)

During the year, the Company 
acquired a 33.3% interest in the Pani 
project. Upon initial recognition, this 
investment was classified as a financial 
asset measured at fair value, with 
subsequent fair value gains or losses 
being recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. At 31 July 2018, 
this investment was valued at $16.6 
million.

This was considered to be a key audit 
matter given:

•  The significance of the acquisition 
during the year.

•  The complexity in the determination 
of the appropriate classification of the 
investment, given the nature of the 
investment and expected conversion 
to shares held subsequent to year end.

•  The judgement involved in estimating 
the fair value of the investment 
given it is classified as Level 3 with 
unobservable inputs.

We considered the Company’s classification of the acquired interest in the Pani project 
by performing the following procedures:

•  Obtained the Asset Purchase Deed and other contractual agreements to obtain an 
understanding of the financial assets acquired.

•  Evaluating whether the classification of the economic interest as a financial asset is 
in accordance with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards.

To test the cost of the initial investment, amongst other procedures we performed the 
following:

•  Obtained the contractual arrangements in respect of the acquired interest including 
the executed Asset Purchase Deed.

•  Assessed the components of the cost of the acquired interest, including agreeing the 
consideration payable by way of Lion shares and options to the share price on the 
acquisition date, settlement statements and the executed Asset Purchase Deed.

To test the subsequent measurement of the Company’s interest in the Pani project as at 
31 July 2018, amongst other procedures, we:

•  Tested the mathematical accuracy of the investment schedule prepared by the 
Company.

•  Agreed the components included in the Company’s calculation of fair value in the 
investment to supporting documents, including agreeing funding obligations paid to 
cash payments in bank statements.

•  Assessed the treatment of capitalising the funding obligations paid under the 
agreement as part of the investment value.

•  Inquired of the Company’s management and directors as to whether there were 
events following the initial investment that would materially alter the fair value of 
the investment.

•  Evaluated whether, in view of the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards, 
the financial report provided adequate disclosure about the acquired interest.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue as  
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar2.pdf. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Report on the remuneration report

Our opinion on the remuneration report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 37 to 38 of the directors’ report for the year  
ended 31 July 2018.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Lion Selection Group Limited for the year ended 31 July 2018 complies  
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

 

Anthony Hodge Melbourne
Partner  6 September 2018
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Shareholder Information

rANk NAme No.	oF	ShAreS %	oF	uNitS

1 National Nominees Limited 11,313,982 7.54

2 BNp paribas Noms pty Ltd ‹ drp › 10,751,024 7.16

3 Mr robin Anthony Widdup + Mrs Janet Widdup ‹ Widdup Super Fund A/c › 6,281,869 4.18

4 rojana Hero pty Ltd 6,262,831 4.17

5 J p Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 4,550,139 3.03

6 inconsultare pty Ltd ‹ Morrison Family S/F A/c › 4,500,000 3.00

7 Mr Mark Gareth creasy 4,448,976 2.96

8 Mirrabooka investments Limited 4,360,378 2.90

9 Mr Michael david Brook + Mrs Jenny Lee Brook ‹ Md & JL Brook Super Fund A/c › 3,791,841 2.53

10 HSBc custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 3,546,665 2.36

11 BNp paribas Nominees pty Ltd ‹ Jarvis A/c Non Treaty drp › 3,159,057 2.10

12 cpAc Melloy Super pty Ltd ‹ Melloy Super Fund A/c › 3,082,259 2.05

13 Macquarie Bank Limited 2,919,489 1.94

14 Mrs pamela Julian Sargood 2,000,000 1.33

15 Mr dominic paul Mccormick 1,762,576 1.17

16 WWW Management pty Ltd ‹ Widdup Family A/c › 1,608,603 1.07

17 Melcor investments pty Ltd 1,411,020 0.94

18 retzos executive pty Ltd ‹ retzos executive S/Fund A/c › 1,400,000 0.93

19 pejali pty Ltd 1,393,073 0.93

20 WAL Assets pty Ltd ‹ The L A Wilson property A/c › 1,207,802 0.80

total	top	20	holders	of	ordiNAry	Fully	pAid	ShAreS 79,751,584 53.12

total	remaining	holders	Balance 70,383,295 46.88

Size	oF	holdiNG	(ordiNAry	Fully	pAid	ShAreS) No.	oF	ShAreholderS

1 – 1,000 365

1,001 – 5,000 917

5,001 –10,000 301

10,001 – 100,000 533

100,001 over 173

total	Shareholders 2,289

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable parcel 607

Top 20 holders of ordinary fully paid shares – 30 September 2018

Distribution of Shareholdings as at 30 September 2018
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Shareholder Information

Voting Rights
All ordinary shares issued by Lion Selection Group Limited carry one vote per share without restriction.

Substantial Shareholders as at 30 September 2018
The following information is extracted from notices received by the company.

Lion Directors and Lion Manager Holdings
As at 30 September 2018, the members of the Lion Board and Lion Manager held shares directly and/or indirectly in 
Lion Selection Group Limited as follows:

NAme No.	oF	ordiNAry	ShAreS

robin Anthony Widdup 14,724,732

oneVue re Services Limited (formerly Select Asset Management Limited) 11,771,689

cooper investors pty Ltd 11,462,262

NAme No.	oF	ordiNAry	ShAreS

peter Maloney 1,940,389

chris Melloy 5,561,827

Barry Sullivan 813,074

robin Widdup 14,724,732

craig Smyth 1,286,152

Tim Markwell 823,717

Hedley Widdup 977,368

total   26,127,259
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Corporate Directory

registered	and	principal	office

Level 2
175 Flinders Lane
Melbourne  Vic  3000

Tel: +61 3 9614 8008
Fax:  +61 3 9614 8009
email: info@lsg.com.au
Website: www.lionselection.com.au

directors
• Barry Sullivan 

Non-executive chairman

• peter Maloney 
Non-executive director

• chris Melloy  
Non-executive director

• robin Widdup  
director

Lion Selection Group Limited Registry

You can gain access to your security 
holding information in a number 
of ways. The details are managed 
via our registrar, computershare 
investor Services, and can be 
accessed as outlined below.

iNVeStorphoNe

investorphone provides telephone 
access 24 hours a day 7 days a week.

Step	1 call 1300 850 505  
(within Australia) or  
61 3 9415 4000  
(outside Australia)

Step	2 Say ‘lion Selection Group 
limited’

Step	3 Follow the prompts to gain 
secure, immediate access 
to your holding details, 
registration details and 
payment information.

iNterNet	ACCouNt	ACCeSS		
ViA	iNVeStor	CeNtre

Securityholders can view their details 
online via investor centre:

Step	1 Go to  
www.investorcentre.com

Step	2 Select ’Access a Single 
Holding’

Step	3 enter your Securityholder 
reference Number (SrN) 
or Holder identification 
Number (HiN), postcode or 
country if outside Australia

Step	4 enter	lSX or lion	
Selection	Group	limited

Step	5 Agree to the Terms and 
conditions and type in the 
characters shown and  
click ‘Login’.

Alternatively, update your details or 
manage your portfolio by registering 
as a member of investor centre:

Step	1 Go to  
www.investorcentre.com

Step	2 click on ‘Login’ and enter 
your	user	id and follow		
the	prompts to login, or  
for new users click on  
the ‘create Login’ link  
and follow the prompts  
to register.

Computershare	investor	Services	pty	limited

enquiries within Australia 1300 850 505
enquiries outside Australia +61 3 9415 4000
investor enquiries Facsimile +61 3 9473 2500
investor enquiries online www.investorcentre.com/contact

Share	registry

computershare investor Services pty Limited
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford  Vic  3067
postal Address – Gpo Box 2975 Melbourne  Vic  3001

enquiries within Australia 1300 850 505
enquiries outside Australia +61 3 9415 4000
investor enquiries Facsimile +61 3 9473 2500
investor enquiries online www.investorcentre.com/contact
Website: www.computershare.com

Chief	executive	officer
craig Smyth

Company	Secretary
Jane rose

Auditors
pricewaterhousecoopers
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